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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited
to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the board (the “Board”) of the directors (the
“Directors”) of ZZ Capital International Limited F18 & 7K EIBX G R 2\ &)
(the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange for the purpose of giving information with regard to the
Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this report misleading.

Should there be any discrepancy between the English and Chinese versions, the
English version shall prevail.
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77 CAPITAL INTERNATIONAL LIMITED PigERESERAT

Company Profile

AT

ZZ Capital International Limited F & A B B G R 2 7 (the
“Company”), together with its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) (Stock Code: 08295) is an investments and corporate
investment advisory services firm with its headquarter based in
Hong Kong. It was established in 2010 and is listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Group's principal operating subsidiary, ZZCl Corporate Finance
Limited (“ZZCF"), is licensed with the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC"”) for carrying on type 1 (dealing
in securities), type 4 (advising on securities), type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) and type 9 (asset management) regulated
activities. It provides a diversified range of corporate advisory and
assets management services.

In furtherance of the Group's business, a subsidiary of ZZCF, J& 3]
RS RERERESEE AR A (Asian Capital (Qianhai)
Investment Management Limited*) has been established in 2016,
which has been approved by Shenzhen Municipal Government
Financial Services Office as a Qualified Foreign Limited Partnership.

Moreover, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, ZZCl
Credit Limited, holds a money lenders licence, where the Group
can complement its financial services capabilities by providing
finance against marketable securities.

Further information about the Group is available on the
Company’s website at www.zzcapitalinternational.com.

*  For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

E 1B E5Y5m I oM

Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to present the 2019/2020 annual report of ZZ Capital
International Limited 118 & 7~ BI B A R A 7] (the “Company”),
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2020 (the “Year").

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year, the Company focused on adjusting its overseas
strategy and narrowing the scope of its business, with positive
progress made in this respect, including the completion of the
deregistration of its overseas subsidiaries in the UK and Israel.

On 19 August 2019, the Company entered into a memorandum
of understanding (“MOU") with the potential sellers with regard
to a potential acquisition of a public company established in China
(the "Target Company”). The Target Company mainly provides
internet-based back-office services, internet integrated marketing
services and smart data solutions. The Group has continued to
push forward the potential acquisition and is actively negotiating
with the potential sellers. Further announcement(s) will be made
to provide more details as and when appropriate. The Board
considers that the potential acquisition provides a good
opportunity for the Group to diversify its business and revenue
sources, thereby increasing the shareholders’ value.

To achieve the Group’s new development strategy, the
management of the Company underwent certain changes. On 29
August 2019, Ms. Duan Di resigned as the Company’s executive
director, chairman of the board, chairman of the nomination
committee and member of the remuneration committee, and Ms.
Zhang Yun resigned as the Company’s executive director, chief
executive officer, compliance officer and authorised
representative. Mr. Niu Zhanbin, a veteran with internet
background, was appointed as the Company’s executive director,
chairman of the board, chief executive officer, chairman of the
nomination committee and member of the remuneration
committee. Mr. Wu Hui, the Company’s chief operating officer,
was appointed as the Company’s executive director, compliance
officer and authorised representative. On 26 March 2020, Mr.
Jiang Yulin was appointed as the Company’s executive director
and took over the position of chief executive officer.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

The Group has achieved certain results in investment advisory
business this Year. A total of 3 new institutional customers were
gained this Year and the income from investment advisory
business increased from HK$1.63 million to HK$15.02 million.

During the Year, the Group focused on developing the financial
advisory business and engaging prominent professionals in the
market, with the aim to provide corporate financing and
consulting services to more institutional customers. This Year, a
total of 2 new institutional customers were gained with the
income from financial advisory service amounted to HK$0.37
million.

The sudden outbreak of the novel coronavirus epidemic has
caused huge impact on economic activities. The Group’s business
is mainly conducted in the Mainland China and Hong Kong. Some
of the Group’s potential customers have delayed or suspended
their financing plans due to the epidemic, resulting in the Group's
loss of some business opportunities. However, the Group has tried
its best to provide corresponding services to its customers through
remote conference and the provision of off-site services.

The Group will continue to look for more institutional customers
and provide diversified financial services to them, including
investment consulting, asset management, corporate consulting,
corporate financing and proprietary investment.

With regard to the announcement issued by the Company on 8
March 2019, Geoswift Holding Limited (the “Borrower”) has
defaulted in repayment of the principal amount with interest in
the sum of approximately US$34.10 million on 7 March 2019. The
Group received US$300,000 and US$750,000 on 19 June 2019
and 6 November 2019 respectively from the Borrower as partial
repayment of the loan. As at 31 March 2020, according to the
loan agreement, the aggregated amount (including outstanding
principal, interest and default interest) owed by the Borrower to
the Group was approximately US$36.64 million. On 31 March
2020, the Company’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiary (the
“Assignor”) and an independent third party (the “Assignee”)
entered into an assignment and assumption deed pursuant to
which the Assignor assigned and the Assignee accepted the
assignment by the Assignor of, all relevant right, title, benefits and
interests in the relevant loan and security documents, and the
Assignee assumed all the obligations thereunder at a settlement
amount of US$28 million. Completion of the assignment took
place on 31 March 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

E 1B E5Y5m I oM

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

In order to enhance corporate governance and internal control,
the Group has engaged BT Corporate Governance Limited again
as its internal auditor to evaluate, assess and improve its internal
control process and to ensure appropriate policies and procedures
are in place. The Group has further improved various control
measures on internal operation and management based on the
findings and recommendations from the internal audit.

Under the Greater Bay Area plan, the business of the Group will
leverage on Hong Kong's geographical advantages and global
presence. It is the intention of the Company’s management to
optimise its resources and to develop business strategies oriented
from the perspective of China, and to diversify products and
services for achieving a sustainable growth.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Results of the Group

For the Year, corporate advisory fee income increased to
approximately HK$15.39 million (2019: HK$1.63 million). Interest
income from lending business of approximately HK$1.58 million
was recognised for the Year (2019: HK$2.31 million). Accordingly,
the Group's revenue increased to approximately HK$16.97 million
(2019: HK$3.94 million).

Net investment income for the Year was approximately HK$54.28
million (2019: net investment loss HK$84.99 million), mainly
because of the fair value gain on convertible loan receivable at fair
value through profit and loss (“FVTPL") of HK$57.37 million
recognised during the Year.

Interest income on structured deposit was approximately HK$8.83
million (2019: Nil). Interest income from bank deposits decreased
to approximately HK$5.32 million (2019: HK$9.01 million).

Net exchange loss of HK$16.12 million was recognised for the
Year (2019: HK$8.90 million), mostly driven by the foreign
exchange revaluation of the Group’s Renminbi (“RMB") bank
balances.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Results of the Group (Continued)

Operating expenses during the Year was approximately HK$64.39
million (2019: HK$186.90 million). The decrease in operating
expenses was mainly attributable to reduction in staff costs to
HK$20.80 million (2019: HK$79.25 million), rental related
expenses to HK$4.10 million (2019: HK$37.60 million) and
professional fee to HK$31.63 million (2018: HK$50.26 million).

Profit for the Year was approximately HK$1.59 million, compared
to the loss of approximately HK$284.71 million for the last
financial year.

Basic earnings per share for the Year was approximately HK0.04
cent (2019: losses per share of HK8.02 cents), while diluted
earnings per share for the Year was the same as basic earnings
per share of approximately HK0.04 cent (2019: losses per share of
HK8.02 cent).

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s non-current assets was
approximately HK$26.56 million (2019: HK$19.19 million). The
increase was mainly due to recognition of right-of-use assets as a
result of adoption of HKFRS 16 in the Year.

As mentioned in Business Review section above, the Group has
assigned the convertible loan receivable at FVTPL at a settlement
amount of US$28 million (equivalent to approximately HK$217.12
million), resulting in an increase of other assets and receivables for
the same amount as at 31 March 2020. The Group has received
the settlement amount in full subsequent to 31 March 2020. The
carrying value of the said convertible loan receivable at FVTPL as at
31 March 2019 was approximately HK$167.99 million.

Total liabilities as at 31 March 2020 was approximately HK$21.96
million (2019: HK$9.70 million). The increase was mainly due to
adoption of HKFRS 16 resulting in recognition of lease liabilities in
aggregated amount of HK$6.94 million and increase in
professional fee payable for the acquisition project.

Net assets value of the Group as at 31 March 2020 increased to
approximately HK$709.89 million (2019: HK$705.18 million). The
net assets value per share as at 31 March 2020 was approximately
HK19.99 cents (2019: HK19.86 cents).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Liquidity and financial resources

The Group continued to adopt a prudent financial management
strategy and maintained a healthy liquidity position. As at 31
March 2020, the Group had net current assets of approximately
HK$686.34 million (2019: HK$685.99 million), and the current
ratio was approximately 37.22 (2019: 71.71).

The Group's operations and investments were financed principally
by revenues generated from business operations and available
bank balances. Funds are largely placed with financial institutions
with maturities timed to cover any known capital investments or
commitments. The Group had no borrowing and the gearing ratio
of the Group, calculated as total borrowings over total equity, was
nil as at 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

For foreign currency risk, the Group will continue to monitor its
foreign currency exposure and will consider using hedging
instruments if available in respect of significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Capital structure

There has been no material change in the capital structure of the
Company during the Year. The capital source of the Company
comprises only ordinary shares.

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$709.89 million as at 31 March 2020 (2019:
HK$705.18 million). This increase was mainly attributable to the
increase in the retained profits and translation reserve for the
Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Commitments

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has no operating lease
commitment after adoption of HKFRS 16 (2019: HK$11.13
million). As at 31 March 2020, the establishment of a wholly-
owned foreign equity investment management enterprise in
Qianhai, Shenzhen for which there will be a capital contribution of
US$1.60 million (31 March 2019: US$1.60 million). Save for the
above, the Group and the Company did not have any significant
commitment as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.

Charge on the Group’s assets

As at 31 March 2020, the Group did not have any charge on its
assets (2019: Nil).

Employees and remuneration policies

As of 31 March 2020, the Group had 23 employees including
Directors (31 March 2019: 23 employees). Total staff cost
(including Directors’ emoluments) for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$20.80 million. Employees’ remuneration
packages are decided based on their job responsibilities, local
market benchmarks and industry trends. Employee bonus is
distributable according to the performance of the respective
subsidiaries and employees concerned.

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and
senior management of the Company with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 7 June 2010
(the “Share Option Scheme"), details of which are set out in note
27 to the consolidated financial statements. No option has
however been granted, exercised or lapsed under this Share
Option Scheme.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (2019: Nil).

Future plans for material investments or capital
assets

As mentioned in the Business Review of this report, on 19 August
2019, the Company, as a potential purchaser, entered into the
MOU with the potential sellers in respect of the possible
acquisition of the Target Company. Pursuant to the MOU, the
Company intends to acquire and obtain from the potential sellers,
and the potential sellers intend to sell and transfer to the
Company, in each case through the contractual arrangements, the
control over the operations of the Target Company and the right
to enjoy the economic benefits generated by the Target Company.
Details of the MOU and this possible acquisition were disclosed in
the announcement of the Company dated 19 August 2019.

Save as aforementioned, the Group has no plans for material
investments or acquisitions of capital assets but will pursue
investment and lending opportunities to enhance its profitability in
the ordinary course of its business.

Material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies

During the Year, two indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, namely ZZ Capital International (Israel) Limited and ZZ
Capital International (UK) Limited were deregistered with loss on
such deregistration of approximately HK$3.11 million recognised
in the Year. Save as aforementioned, the Group had no material
acquisitions or disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies
during the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OUTLOOK

According to the “World Economic Situation and Outlook 2020”
released by the United Nations, as a result of the Sino-US trade
dispute and the significant decrease in investment, the global
economic growth rate dropped to 2.3% in 2019, which is the
lowest level in ten years.

Nevertheless, the economic growth rate of Mainland China in
2019 is 6.1% and the annual GDP is RMB99 trillion, in line with
the expected target of 6%-6.5%. On a quarterly basis, the first
quarter, the second quarter, the third quarter and the fourth
quarter increased by 6.4%, 6.2%, 6.0% and 6.0% year-on-year,
respectively. Affected by the novel coronavirus epidemic, the
tension of global trade continues, the Sino-U.S. confrontation
escalates and the instability in some regions intensifies, the
International Monetary Fund has recently predicted the economic
growth rate in 2020 to be -3%.

The impact caused by the global novel coronavirus epidemic has
brought severe impact on the global economy. On 28 May 2020,
the third session of the 13th National People’s Congress was
concluded and the PRC government did not set any quantitative
indicators for GDP growth. Nevertheless, the PRC government has
promptly controlled the spread of the novel coronavirus epidemic
and various domestic economic activities had gradually resumed.
It is believed that the economic performance of the PRC in 2020
would still outperform the global average economic growth. At
the same time, the 2020 Government Work Report of the PRC
advocated the idea of accelerating the implementation of regional
development strategies and further push forward the construction
of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area. At the
same time, it also proposed to continue to launch supporting
policies and to fully promote “Internet Plus”, creating new
advantages of digital economy.
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OUTLOOK (continued)

The novel coronavirus epidemic has caused significant impact on
the global economy and the Group’s business has also been
affected to a certain extent. Due to the epidemic, the contracts
with respect to part of the Group’s investment consulting business
were not renewed by our customers, which would bring certain
loss to the Group. Nevertheless, the novel coronavirus epidemic
has also brought new development opportunities to the internet
economy. The Target Company that the Company proposes to
acquire is a company that provides internet back-office services,
internet integrated marketing solutions and smart data solutions.
The impact of the novel coronavirus epidemic on it is less
significant and may even bring new development opportunity to
it.

Given the above situation, the Group will re-emphasize the
combination of Hong Kong's strategic geographic location and its
integration with Mainland China in order to achieve a diversified
development by crossing different geographical locations and
asset classes. On the one hand, it will continue to provide financial
services to customers, on the other hand, it will be through the
acquisition of quality assets as soon as possible to improve the
Group's operating conditions and enhance the Group’s operating
efficiency so as to achieve greater value for the shareholders.

APPRECIATION

We would like to take this opportunity to thank all members of
the team for their diligence and dedication and to thank our
board members for their trust, guidance and support in terms of
strategy and implementation during the reporting period. At the
same time, we also thank all the customers of the Group for their
trust in us and all the cooperating professional bodies for their
support. With the joint efforts of all our staff and the support of
various parties, we believe that we will be able to achieve better
results and greater value for the shareholders in the new year to
come.

By Order of the Board

JIANG Yulin
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 19 June 2020
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Biographical Details of Directors

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. NIU Zhanbin, aged 45, joined the Group in August 2019, is
an executive Director, the Chairman of the Board, the chairman of
the Nomination Committee and the member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. He also holds several directorships in
certain other subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Niu is also a chief
operating officer of Zhongzhi Enterprise Group Co.,Ltd. Zhongzhi
Enterprise Group Co.,Ltd. is a company directly or indirectly held
as to 76% by Mr. Xie Zhikun. Mr. Xie Zhikun is the controlling
shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Niu worked in the Office of the Cyberspace Administration of
China from 2014 to 2017. He worked in China Internet Network
Information Center from December 2017 to July 2019. He had
participated in a number of major research projects and has
extensive management experience in the fields including network
infrastructure, information and communication technology, digital
economy and fund investment in the People’s Republic of China
("“PRC"). Mr. Niu has been paying close attention to the
development of the internet industry in the PRC for a long time
and has a thorough thought on the development prospect of the
industry. He has established good relationships with well-known
experts and scholars, famous internet companies and major news
media. Mr. Niu obtained a bachelor of laws degree from Renmin
University of China in 1996 and a master of laws degree from
China University of Political Science and Law in 2012.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS Continued)

Mr. Jiang Yulin, aged 61, joined the Group in March 2020,
appointed as an executive Director and chief executive officer of
the Company.

Mr. Jiang is currently the independent non-executive director,
chairman of nomination committee and member of remuneration
and evaluation committee of Haitong UniTrust International
Leasing Co., Ltd. (a company listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), stock code: 01905).
He is also the independent director of Anhui Zhonghuan
Environmental Protection Technology Co., Ltd. (a company listed
on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 300692). Mr. Jiang
served as an executive director, chairman of the board and
member of nomination committee of China Tian Yuan Healthcare
Group Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 00557) from August 2016 to March 2020. Mr. Jiang has
over 30 years of banking experience and has extensive experience
in financing, investment and management. Mr. Jiang had worked
for Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited (“ICBC") for
more than 30 years from 1985 to 2016. Since 2015, Mr. Jiang
was the board chairman of ICBC Financial Leasing Co., Ltd., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of ICBC, and held concurrent posts as
the board chairman of ICBC (Moscow) Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of ICBC, and a non-executive director, chairman of risk
management committee and member of the audit committee of
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited. Mr. Jiang
had resigned with ICBC in 2016. From 2002 to 2005, he also
served as an independent supervisor of Maanshan Iron & Steel
Company Limited, one of the largest iron and steel producers and
marketers in the PRC, which is listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600808) and the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 00323). Mr. Jiang holds a doctorate degree in Economics
from Wuhan University. He is a registered accountant and was
qualified as a senior economist issued by the Appraisal and
Approval Committee for Professional and Technical Competence
of ICBC. Mr. Jiang has published several journals and certain
books in relation to the banking industry and risk prevention.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS Continued)

Mr. WU Hui, aged 37, joined the Group in November 2018 as
the chief operating officer and has been appointed as an executive
Director, the compliance officer, and an authorised representative
of the Company since August 2019. He also acts as the legal
representative or holds directorships in certain other subsidiaries
of the Company.

Mr. Wu has over 10 years of experience in internal control and
management of financial corporates. He has worked in Zhongzhi
Capital Management Company Limited (“Zhongzhi Capital”) since
2016 and is currently holding the post of its supervisor. He is also
the director of Kang Bang Qi Hui (HK) Company Limited (“Kang
Bang”) and Tian Xi Capital Company Limited (“Tian Xi”) as well as
the supervisor of & M 2= T & A& # A R A A (Changzhou
Jingjiang Capital Management Company Limited*) (“Changzhou
Jingjiang”) and PRI A ESIE R EE IR H MR A R (Tibet Kangbang
Shengbo Business Management Company Limited*) (“Tibet
Kangbang”). As at the date of this annual report, Kang Bang and
Tian Xi are the substantial shareholders of the Company and
Zhongzhi Capital, Changzhou Jingjiang and Tibet Kangbang
ceased to be substantial shareholders of the Company since April
2020 after the restructuring of shareholders. Mr. Wu obtained a
master of management degree from the Central University of
Finance and Economics in 2008.

*  for identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, aged 66, joined the Group in June
2016 as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of
the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company.

Mr. Markscheid is a venture partner at DealGlobe, a Shanghai
based boutique investment bank. He currently serves as a non-
executive director of ChinaCast Education Corporation and as an
independent director of Fanhua Inc., Jinko Solar Inc., and Ener-
Core Inc. ChinaCast Education Corporation and Ener-Core trade
Over-The-Counter and Fanhua Inc. is listed on The NASDAQ Stock
Market (“NASDAQ") while Jinko Solar Inc. is listed on The New
York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"”). Mr. Markscheid also served as
independent director of China Integrated Energy Corporation (a
company previously listed on NASDAQ) and China Ming Yang
Wind Power Group Limited (a company previously listed on NYSE).
He is also a trustee of Princeton-in-Asia. From 1998-2006, Mr.
Markscheid worked for GE Capital (“GE"). During his time with
GE, Mr. Markscheid led GE's business development activities in
China and Asia Pacific, primarily acquisitions and direct
investments. Prior to GE, Mr. Markscheid worked with the Boston
Consulting Group throughout Asia. He was a commercial banker
for ten years in London, Chicago, New York, Hong Kong and
Beijing with Chase Manhattan Bank and First National Bank of
Chicago and has years of professional experience in the financial
services industries. Mr. Markscheid obtained a bachelor of arts
degree from Princeton University in 1976, a master degree in
international affairs from Johns Hopkins University in 1980, and a
master of degree in business administration from Columbia
University in 1991, where he was class valedictorian.
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Biographical Details of Directors

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. ZHANG Weidong, aged 55, joined the Group in July 2016 as
an independent non-executive director, a member of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company.

Mr. Zhang was the executive director of OP Financial Investments
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
01140) and a partner of Oriental Patron Financial Group primarily
responsible for private equity investments. Mr. Zhang has over 14
years of experience in the operation and management of
commercial banking, during which he worked in the international
business department of ICBC with final position level as deputy
general manager of department, including 3 years in ICBC Almaty
Branch, where he was in charge of treasury, credit lending and
office operations. Moreover, Mr. Zhang has 12 years of investment
banking experience, served as executive director of ICEA Finance
Group (the investment banking arm of ICBC) and managing
director of Alpha Alliance Finance Holdings, responsible for
corporate finance and sales department respectively. He is also an
independent non-executive Director of Tianjin Port Development
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 03382). Mr. Zhang holds a master degree from Renmin
University in Economics, a diploma of Programme for
Management Development of Harvard Business School and held a
fellowship from Columbia University in New York.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. ZHANG Longgen, aged 56, joined the Group in January
2018 as an independent non-executive director, the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company.

Mr. Zhang is currently a director of JinkoSolar Holding Co., Ltd.
(stock code: JKS) and the chief executive director of Dago New
Energy Corp. (stock code: DQ), both are listed on the New York
Stock Exchange (“NYSE"). Before that, from September 2008 to
September 2014, he was the chief financial officer and director of
JinkoSolar Holding Co., Ltd. From February 2006 to August 2008,
he worked in Xinyuan Real Estate Co., Ltd. (stock code: XIN), a
company listed on NYSE as the chief financial officer and director.
Mr. Zhang has extensive financial expertise and financial
management experience. He has served as an independent
director in various listed companies, including, among others,
China Ming Yang Wind Power Group Limited (a company listed
on the NYSE, stock code: MY), China Fordoo Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 02399) and
CCS Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. (a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600180). Mr. Zhang
was qualified as a certified public accountant and was granted
such certificate by the State Board of Public Accounting of the
State of Texas in the United States in August 1995. He obtained
his membership from the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in July 2002. Mr. Zhang holds a master’s degree in
professional accounting and a master’s degree in business
administration from West Texas A&M University.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, change in
information of Directors are set out below:

Name of Director Details of changes

Mr. NIU Zhanbin The remuneration package increased from
HK$1,800,000 to approximately
HK$3,140,000 per annum with effect
from 22 November 2019.

Ceased to act as Chief Executive Officer of
the Company with effect from 26 March
2020.

Mr. WU Hui Appointed as the director of Tian Xi and
Kang Bang in November 2019 and
April 2020 respectively. Tian Xi and Kang
Bang are the current substantial
shareholders of the Company.

Mr. ZHANG Weidong Resigned as an executive director of OP
Financial Investment Limited (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
01140) with effect from 10 February 2020
and ceased to be a partner of Oriental
Patron Financial Group.
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Directors’ Report
ESEBHRS

The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in investment holding,
provision of corporate advisory services, investment advisory and
assets management services, proprietary investments and money
lending.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance has been
covered in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section as
well as this Directors’ Report of this annual report. Risk disclosure
sections that follow hereafter should be read in conjunction with
the "Management Discussion and Analysis” and note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements. These form part of this
directors’ report.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Operational risk

With reference to uncertainty in the regulated business
sustainability poses other operational risks to ZZCl Corporate
Finance Limited (“ZZCF"), the Group majority put its effort to
expand and diversify the scope of the regulated business. In
addition, ZZCF has also developed and implemented differentiated
business strategies to relocate different competent experts,
licensed persons and professional staffs of front, middle and back
office to strengthen its expertise and capacity to accomplish
ZZCF's key performance indicator.

COVID-19 virus presents a unique risk while companies of all sizes
have been greatly impacted under this situation. The Group has
implemented a business continuity plan (“BCP”) throughout the
period. Having said that working from home practice is
implemented in the Group in order to protect the employees, it is
still a new challenge to most of the businesses and bringing
uncertainty to the operation.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)
Business and associated risks

With objective of sustainable exploitation of harvest strategy for
the Group, the Group has performed an internal reorganisational
restructuring and adopted the new business strategy to reform
the business of the Group. Such exploitation brings improving
result of the Group's business after the first stage of reformation.
In the presence of the Group’s estimation, the revenue in future
may insufficient to satisfy on the expenses of retaining talented
staffs to carry on their contributions with the Group; besides, the
Group may face the challenge of talent shortage, spending on
capital expenditure, technology upgradation and the expenditure
of rental of business premises may not entirely be covered by
revenue in the long-run future. Moreover, subject to China’s
capital control restrictions and the fluctuation of exchange rate
between Renminbi and the Hong Kong dollar, the flexibility under
business operation of the Group are being affected by the
uncertainty as aforementioned.

The spread of the COVID-19 virus has been bringing certain level
of uncertainties and risks to any kind of businesses. The Group are
also being affected in the business expansion and strategy. Critical
situation in the global transportation has also created a sudden
crash in the global business and the Group as well.

Credit and counter party risks

The Group extends credit financing and carries a money lender
license in Hong Kong, therefore credit and counterparty risks shall
be carefully evaluated and managed. As mentioned in this report
with heading “Management Discussion and Analysis”, on 31
March 2020, the Group has assigned the convertible loan
receivable at FVTPL, which was in default, to an independent third
party at a settlement amount of US$28 million. The Group has
received the settlement amount in full subsequent to 31 March
2020. The Group's deposits with licensed banks in Hong Kong
and the PRC also give rise to counterparty risks, although these
are well-known and well-capitalised institutions.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)
Financial risk

The Group has no borrowing during the Year so the liquidity and
funding cost risks were low. The Group has maintained its
investment portfolio in Hong Kong and US listed securities with
manageable market risk and liquidity. As the Group will diversify
its revenue stream and perhaps starting to apply leverage, its
financial risk profile may change accordingly.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group's policies and practices are environmentally friendly. To
help conserve the environment, the management has
implemented green office practices and practice of recycling and
reducing consumption of resources. The Group commits to
maintain awareness within the Group of the responsibility of the
Group and its employees to ensure protection of the environment.
For example, purchasing the environmentally preferable products
with reputable certifications or labels, transmission of bulk
documents through electronic means, marking up of documents
electronically rather than using printed version, double-sided black
& white printing, recycling of printed papers and envelops, and
switching off lights and air-conditioning after working/non-office
hours, public holidays.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations is a cornerstone of
operating the businesses of the Group. Changes in laws, rules,
regulations and enforcement practices may constantly pose
challenges to the operation of the Group. Amongst others, the
Group operates within the confine of the relevant company laws
in Hong Kong, Cayman lIslands, British Virgin Islands, Israel,
England, the United States and The People’s Republic of China, as
well as under the GEM Listing Rules and the Securities Futures
Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong (”SFO"). ZZCF
is a corporation licensed under section 116 of the SFO for carrying
on Type 1,4,6 and 9 regulated activities, and therefore subject to
the requirements of SFO and codes and guidelines issued by the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong
(“SFC").
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
(Continued)

Z7Cl Credit Limited holds a money lender’s licence and is subject
to the provisions of the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163
of the laws of Hong Kong). To provide for the control and
regulation of money lenders and money lending transactions
mainly involves, the Commissioner of Police and Registrar of
Money Lenders. The Group has established and maintained
adequate policies and procedures to ensure compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations. In addition, the Group has also
adopted a whistleblowing policy for reporting of wrong-doing
within the Group. The whistleblowing policy can be found in the
Group’s compliance manual which is regularly reviewed and
updated as and when necessary. The Group has assembled a team
of professionals with many years of experience and expertise in
legal, compliance and financial control in the financial industry.
With the right blend of talent, this team provides the Group with
the requisite level of quality assurance to ensure compliance with
all relevant laws and regulations, and to minimize the Group'’s risk
exposure as it embarks on new business initiatives in relation to
money lending business.

Key relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders

The Group has developed and implemented a competitive
remuneration structure which is key for the Group to attract and
retain the best talent. Details of emolument policy and employee
benefits are set out in the section headed “Employees and
remuneration policies” under “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report. The Group’s operational and
organisational structure is fairly simple and has not encountered
major difficulties in recruitment, retention or restructuring. There
have been no interruptions to operations nor any labour disputes
to date. In addition, the Group encourages and supports
employees to attend courses, seminars and workshops that are
relevant to their jobs to obtain up-skills so as to keep them
challenged and engaged as well as assist the Group's sustainable
business success.

In particular to the COVID-19 virus situation, the Group has also
implemented special arrangement for the protection of employees’
health and safety.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Key relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders (Continued)

The Group has maintained productive relationships with its
customers, investees, co-investors and suppliers. With its
professional board, company website, financial reports and the
annual general meeting, the Group has significantly improved its
transparency and communication with its shareholders. The
controlling shareholder has also been very supportive and
resourceful in growing the business and mindful of all
shareholders’ interests to see the Company succeed.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of
the Group as at 31 March 2020 are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 63 to 147 of this annual report.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy in June 2019 (the
“Dividend Policy”). The declaration, form, frequency and amount
of dividend paid by the Company must be in accordance with all
applicable laws, rules and regulations and subject to the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”). The
Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio. When considering dividend declaration or recommendation,
the Board shall take into account a number of factors, including
but not limited to the Group’s business condition and strategy,
capital requirement; and earnings, financial and cash flow
position, and distributable reserves.

Having considered the factors stated in the Dividend Policy
adopted by the Company, the Board does not recommend the
payment of a dividend for the Year (2019: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 6 August 2020 to Tuesday, 11 August 2020 (both days
inclusive) for the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM"). During which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the AGM, all completed transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged
with the Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar of the Company,
Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on Wednesday, 5 August 2020.
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PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in the plant and equipment of the Group during the
Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 26
to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders comprising share premium account
and accumulated loss amounted to approximately HK$577.40
million (31 March 2019: HK$650.68 million). Details of the
Company’s distributable reserves as at 31 March 2020 are set out
in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and as at the date of this report are
as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. NIU Zhanbin (Chairman) (appointed on 29 August 2019)

Mr. JIJANG Yulin (Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 26 March 2020)
Mr. WU Hui (Chief Operating Officer) (appointed on 29 August 2019)
Ms. DUAN Di (resignation effective on 29 August 2019)

Ms. ZHANG Yun (resignation effective on 29 August 2019)
Non-executive Directors

Mr. FU Chi King Johnson (resignation effective on 29 April 2020)
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID

Mr. ZHANG Weidong

Mr. ZHANG Longgen

Biographical details of the Directors currently in service are set out
on pages 15 to 20 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Group which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that Directors shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities incurred or sustained in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given
in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. The Company has
maintained liability insurance to provide appropriate cover for the
directors of the Group during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors and chief executive of
the Company had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to
Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities
transactions by the Directors to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2020, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of shares capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group:
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Approximate
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Name of shareholder Capacity shares held in the Company
LERANE]
IREMBA
REREHE &4 FriER B A Bak
Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company Beneficial owner 2,159,552,102 60.82%
Limited (“ZZXZ") (Note 1)
Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company Em#BA
Limited ([Zzxz]) (ffaE 1)
Jinhui Capital Company Limited (“Jinhui”) Interest of controlled corporation 2,159,552,102 60.82%
(Note 1)
Jinhui Capital Company Limited ([Jinhuil) AR HAE R
(Bfat1)
Zhongzhi Capital (HK) Company Limited Interest of controlled corporation ~ 2,159,552,102 60.82%

(“Zhongzhi Capital (HK)") (Note 1)
FEER(EB)ERAT
([FEEXREB) ] (HET)

REHAE S
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND

SRR

UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

Long positions in share of the Company (Continued)

KB B

RAEDTRADOE R &)

FERRNRAEQFRD REERDF

Approximate
percentage of

Number of shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held in the Company
LER NG|
IRFEMBA
BRRER g4 FRrEERG A Bot
FIRNEFESIBREEBAECE (AR Interest of controlled corporation  2,159,552,102 60.82%
&%) (Shenzhen Qianhai Zhongzhi Jinhui
Investment Management Partnership
Enterprise (Limited Partnership)*)
(“Shenzhen Zhongzhi”) (Notes 1 and 3)
RILEFESEBREEREREE Rt EE RS
(BEREZ)(DRINIFED (K1 k3)
Kang Bang Qi Hui (HK) Company Limited Beneficial owner 455,820,525 12.84%
("Kang Bang”) (Note 2)
EAEE(ERB)BRAR(TRAD(ME2) BERmEBA
HINEHEEEER LN (BRAE) Interest of controlled corporation 455,820,525 12.84%
(Notes 2 and 3)
BMNEAEERERL(BRERE) ZEGEENER
(=YY ED,
AEERBELCEEEERE AR Interest of controlled corporation ~ 2,615,372,627 73.66%
(Tibet Kangbang Sheng Bo Business
Management Company Limited*)
(“Tibet Kangbang”) (Note 3)
TERABECEETEFTRAA ZEGEENER
(TFamEH ) (F17E3)
BMRIERERGR AT Interest of controlled corporation ~ 2,615,372,627 73.66%

(Changzhou Jingjiang Capital
Management Company Limited*)
(“Changzhou Jingjiang”) (Note 3)

BNRIERERARAR ([EMNRLI)
(HfaE3)

*  For identification purpose only
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Directors’” Report

ES5E8WHS

FERRAARDTRA RAERBER G
HEZRARE &)

(Continued)
Long positions in share of the Company (Continved) RAQATRMBHITFE (&)
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held in the Company
HARAT
IR REMBEA
REREAH 514 FrEROE A Aok
& AEE AR 2Rl (Zhongzhi Capital Interest of controlled corporation ~ 2,615,372,627 73.66%
Management Company Limited*)
("Zhongzhi Capital”) (Note 3)
PEERNEBERAR([FEER]) R EE RS
(Bt 3)
Rt R) EAEEEBEFR AR Interest of controlled corporation ~ 2,615,372,627 73.66%
(Note 3)
PERBMULR) ERNEREEARAR R EBE RS
(HtaE3)
FERY (UL R) EREEBR AT (Note 3)  Interest of controlled corporation  2,615,372,627 73.66%
FEREULR)BEAEEERAR (ME3) ZESEBMNEZ
Mr. XIE Zhikun (“Mr. Xie") (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 2,615,372,627 73.66%
fEE RS ([R5 E]) (Hat3) R EBE RS
Mr. LONG Rui Ming John (“Mr. Long”) Security interest in shares 2,615,372,627 73.66%
(Note 4) through controlled corporation
BEImAR S ([BESR & D) (et 4) FERZEHEERB R R
MR
Precious Elite Investments Limited Security interest in shares 2,615,372,627 73.66%
(“Precious Elite”) (Note 4) through controlled corporation
Precious Elite Investments Limited BB A B A IR e iR
(['Precious Elite |) (K15t 4) RS
Crystal Wise Investments Limited Security interest in shares 2,615,372,627 73.66%
("Crystal Wise"”) (Note 4) through controlled corporation
Crystal Wise Investments Limited FERZEHEERB R 6
([ Crystal Wise |) (Bt 4) R
Jing Gang Properties Resources Development  Security interest in shares 2,615,372,627 73.66%

Company (“Jing Gang”) (Note 4)
RAMEERRAGRAR(TRED (Kit4)

*  For identification purpose only
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

Notes:

1. As at 31 March 2020, ZZXZ was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Jinhui and
Jinhui was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhongzhi Capital (HK), which in turn
was wholly-owned by Shenzhen Zhongzhi. As such, each of ZZXZ, Jinhui,
Zhongzhi Capital (HK) and Shenzhen Zhongzhi was deemed to be interested
in the 2,159,552,102 shares in the Company by virtue of the SFO as at 31
March 2020.

2. As at 31 March 2020, Kang Bang was a wholly-owned subsidiary of &5
HERBLEHR L (BRAE). As such, each of Kang Bang and & M FE #3251
AR L(ARA ) was deemed to be interested in the 455,820,525
shares of the Company by virtue of the SFO as at 31 March 2020.

3. As at 31 March 2020, Shenzhen Zhongzhi was owned as to 95% by Tibet
Kangbang as limited partner and 5% by Changzhou Jingjiang as general
partner, and MR EBIE .0 (BRAER) was owned as to 99% by
Changzhou Jingjiang as limited partner and 1% by Tibet Kangbang as general
partner. Tibet Kangbang and Changzhou Jingjiang were wholly-owned
subsidiaries of Zhongzhi Capital which in turn was wholly and beneficially
owned by FIERFE (LR EAEEREEERAF. FERMULR)ERE
IR EE AR A A was owned as t0 99.933% by FIERZE (It R) BAEER
[ 72 @] which was wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Xie. As such, each of
Tibet Kangbang, Changzhou Jingjiang, Zhongzhi Capital, /8 S 8 (4L 50) &
AEBEBMERAAT, PERE (LR EAERAR AT and Mr. Xie was
deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 2,615,372,627 shares of the
Company held by ZZXZ and Kang Bang by virtue of the SFO as at 31 March
2020.

4. On 17 April 2019, ZZXZ and Kang Bang executed share charge with respect
to an aggregate of 2,615,372,627 shares of the Company in favour of Jing
Gang pursuant to a facility agreement whereby Jing Gang agreed to make
available to Jinhui a term loan facility. Jing Gang was a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Crystal Wise, which in turn was wholly-owned by Precious Elite.
Precious Elite was beneficially owned by Mr. Long and therefore Mr. Long
was deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 2,615,372,627 shares of the
Company held by Jing Gang by virtue of the SFO as at 31 March 2020. The
captioned share charge was released on 15 April 2020 and therefore Jing
Gang, Crystal Wise, Precious Elite and Mr. Long ceased to have any interest in
the shares of the Company thereafter.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Directors were
not aware of any other person (other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 7 June
2010. The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme were
summarised in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in
Appendix V to the Company’'s prospectus dated 11 June 2010.
The Share Option Scheme has expired on 18 June 2020.

During the Year, no option was granted, exercised or lapsed under
the Share Option Scheme.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above, at no time during the Year was the Company, its
subsidiaries or its ultimate holding company or any subsidiary of
such ultimate holding company a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party or were parties and in which a Director or any entities
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or in existence during the Year.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has through the Nomination Committee reviewed
the independence of each of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, Mr. ZHANG
Weidong and Mr. ZHANG Longgen who were in service during
the Year, and has received annual confirmations of their
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
These written confirmations also covered the immediate family
members (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) of each of the
independent non-executive Directors. The Company considers all
of them independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, there were no connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions which were required to be
disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing
Rules. Moreover, there were no related party transactions as set
out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements constituted
a connected transaction or a continuing connected transaction
which was subject to the disclosure requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules during the Year.

COMPETING BUSINESS

As of 31 March 2020, Zhongzhi Capital, through its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, ZZXZ and Kang Bang, indirectly owned a 73.66%
interest in the Company and was the controlling shareholder of
the Company. Zhongzhi Capital’s key services include private
equity investments in the primary market, private placement,
mergers and acquisitions of overseas businesses and funds which
may compete or are likely to compete with the business of the
Group. Zhongzhi Capital ceased to be the controlling shareholder
of the Company since April 2020 after the restructuring of
shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any
business or interest of the Directors, the controlling shareholders
of the Company and their respective close associates (as defined
under the GEM Listing Rules) that competed or might compete
with the businesses of the Group nor any conflict of interest which
any such person had or might have with the Group.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

No donation was made by the Group during the Year (2019: Nil).

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The Group endeavors to minimize impact to the environment. For
the purpose of disclosing the information in relation to
environment, social and governance (“ESG") in accordance with
ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules, an
ESG report of the Company will be published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company within three months after
the publication of this annual report of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

In the Year, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 92% of the Group's revenue with the largest
customer constituted approximately 34% of the Group's revenue.

Based on information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close
associates, or any shareholders of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had interest in any of the Group’s
five largest customers during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on publicly available information and within the knowledge
of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float in the issued share capital of the Company pursuant
to the GEM Listing Rules.
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BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group did not have any outstanding bank loans and other
borrowings as at 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

PROPERTIES

The Group did not own any property or property interests as at 31
March 2020.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

No interest was capitalised by the Group during the Year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of the retirement schemes are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the

Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 148 of
this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

36

RITERREMBEE

20203 A31 8 » REETEIMKRERENIRE

TTERMEMEE (20194 © &)

LYES

M2020F3 A31H  AEBWEHEFETMYFEK

ES -
BEXERE

RER - AEEBEISH S ARIFEAR -
RREHE

RIRFHEINF B RN AR A M RARME28

EERAERESHALTZHE

EENAKESESFALZMEFBENGRA M

TR MFEI R 10

SEYBHRE

AEEREREMBEENEEUNREERAR

M EENARFERE 1488 -

¥ I X F]

ARAMEEMBA AN FERRGEHBHRE

MsE34 -



2019/20 ANNUAL REPORT £#R

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during
the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practice adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 38 to 55 of this annual
report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
Year have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

NIU Zhanbin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 19 June 2020
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(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(B)

38

The Company has applied the principles and complied with
all code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules
(the “CG Code”) throughout the Year except for the
deviations from code provisions A.2.1 of the CG Code. In
accordance with code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr.
NIU Zhanbin has been appointed as the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company on 29 August 2019.
Following the appointment of Mr. JJANG Yulin on 26 March
2020, the roles of chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company are separated.

The Board regularly monitors and reviews the Group's
progress in respect of corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance with the code provisions of the CG Code.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
had made specific enquiries to all the Directors who
confirmed their compliance with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors throughout the Year. No
incident of non-compliance was noted by the Company
during this Year.
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board compositions

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategy
and overseeing the development of the Group. In so doing,
the Board receives monthly reports from the chief executive
officer of the Company, monitors the internal control
policies as well as risk management effectiveness, and
evaluates the financial performance of the Group with an
aim to enhancing shareholders’ value. The Board currently
comprises three executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. The composition of the Board sets
out on page 27 of this annual report. Biographical details of
the Directors and the relationship amongst them, if any, are
set out on pages 15 to 20 of this annual report.

Eight board meetings were held during the Year. The
attendance of the relevant Directors are set out on page 46
of this report.

Independent non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the
GEM Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three
independent non-executive Directors representing not less
than one-third of the Board with all of them having
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The Company has,
through the Nomination Committee, reviewed the
independence of, and received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, Mr.
ZHANG Weidong and Mr. ZHANG Longgen, and considers
all of them independent in accordance with the guidelines
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

40

Delegation to Board committees and
management

The Board is ultimately accountable for the Group’s
activities, strategies and financial performance, which
includes formulating business development strategies,
directing and supervising the Group’s affairs, reviewing the
financial statements of the Company, approving quarterly
reports, interim reports, annual reports and announcements
of quarterly results, interim results and annual results,
considering dividend policy, reviewing the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems and so
on.

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Audit Committee with written terms of reference set out
in accordance with the CG Code. More details of these
committees are set out in separate sections of this report.

The Board delegates necessary powers and authorities to the
executive Directors to facilitate the efficient day to day
management of the Group’s business. Investment decisions
were made by the executive Directors pursuant to the
procedures and limits adopted by the Group. Delegated
authorities in the form of monetary limits were set for the
executive Directors and management of the Group for
financial commitments and capital expenditures so that they
could apply their discretion and respond swiftly to
investment opportunities and business needs.

The Board also delegates certain necessary powers and
authorities to the subsidiary’s board of directors to review
the corporate advisory services while the Board has an
oversight role.

In addition, the Board delegates to the Remuneration
Committee authorities to determine remuneration for
individual executive Directors and members of senior
management.
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Corporate governance functions

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest
standards of corporate governance yet being pragmatic on
business decisions and management efficiency. The
independent non-executive Directors were members, and
represent the majority, of all the Board committees of the
Company, namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Whilst the
Board was ultimately responsible for corporate governance
matters, it delegated much of these functions to the Audit
Committee which comprised only of independent non-
executive Directors and was assisted by BT Corporate
Governance Limited (the “Internal Auditor”) performing the
internal audit function.

During the Year, the Board, among other things, reviewed
the policies and practices on corporate governance,
reviewed and monitored the policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
reviewed the Group’s compliance manual; reviewed and
monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; and
reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

Continuous Professional Development

Reading materials relevant to the Board’s duties and
responsibilities and/or the Group’s businesses are provided
to the Board from time to time to develop, refresh and
update their knowledge and skills and to keep them abreast
of the latest developments.

Each Directors has also provided to the Company a record
of the training he/she has received during the Year, which is
set out on page 46 of this annual report.
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(D) CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(E)

(F)

42

The roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company are separated.

Mr. NIU Zhanbin is the chairman of the Company who is
responsible for overseeing the function of the Board. Mr.
JIANG Yulin is the chief executive officer of the Company
who is responsible to the Board for managing the business
of the Group.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The terms of appointment of the independent non-executive
Directors are for a period of three years. All of them are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company pursuant to the
Articles of Association and the GEM Listing Rules.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference. It currently comprises three member, Mr.
NIU Zhanbin and two independent non-executive Directors
namely, Mr. ZHANG Longgen (Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee) and Mr. ZHANG Weidong. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee included,
among other things, (i) formulating, reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy
and structure for all Directors and members of senior
management; (ii) reviewing and approving the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board's corporate goals and objectives; (iii) determining
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and members of senior management; and (iv) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee held four
meetings during the Year.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
Group's remuneration policy and structure, determined the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors, having
regard to comparable companies and other relevant factors.
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(G) NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with written
terms of reference. It currently comprises three members,
Mr. NIU Zhanbin (Chairmen of the Nomination Committee)
and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Stephen MARKSCHEID and Mr. ZHANG Weidong. The
primary duties of the Nomination Committee covered,
among other things, (i) the reviewing of the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity of perspectives) of the Board; (ii) identifying
and nominating suitably qualified candidates for
directorship; and (iii) making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or reappointment of Directors. The
Nomination Committee held three meetings during the
Year.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
established policy and procedure for the nomination and
appointment of new Directors, reviewed the structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
made recommendations to the Board on the reappointment
of retiring Directors at the annual general meeting in 2019,
and nominated the appointment of executive Directors.
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(G) NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

L

According to the Nomination Policy adopted by the
Company, the Nomination Committee shall review the
structure, size, composition and diversity (including the
evaluation of skills, knowledge, professional experience,
cultural and educational background, gender and age of the
Board members and assessment on the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors) of the Board at least
annually. It is responsible for making recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company'’s corporate strategy and succession planning for
the Directors from time to time and selecting suitable and
qualified individuals to become Board members. In
evaluating and selecting candidate(s) for directorship, the
Nomination Committee considers various factors including
but not limited to: the character and integrity; skills and
expertise; professional and educational background;
potential time commitment for the board and/or committee
responsibilities; and the elements of our Board Diversity
Policy as stated below etc. The Nomination Committee
makes recommendation to the Board to appoint the
appropriate person among the candidates nominated for
directorship. The Board appoints suitable candidate(s) in
accordance with the Articles of the Association and the
GEM Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefit of
having a diverse board, and sees increasing diversity at
board level as an essential element in maintaining a
competitive advantage and achieving long-term sustainable
growth for the Group. A balanced and diversified Board
brings a broad range of views to bear upon discussions and
critical decision-making, and balances against “group
thinking”. Our Board Diversity Policy is multi-faceted
stressing business experience, skill-sets, knowledge and
professional expertise in addition to gender, ethnicity and
age. The said elements have substantially been included in
the current Board composition.

Having reviewed the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee recognises the importance and benefits of the
gender diversity at the Board level and shall continue to take
initiatives to identify at least one female candidate to
enhance the gender diversity among the Board members.
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(H) AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference. It currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors namely, Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID
(Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. ZHANG Longgen
and Mr. ZHANG Weidong in compliance with Rules 5.28
and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee include, among other things, (i) reviewing
and supervising the financial reporting process; (i) reviewing
internal control as well as risk management systems of the
Group; (iii) reviewing the consolidated financial statements
and the quarterly, interim and annual reports of the Group;
and (iv) reviewing the terms of engagement and scope of
audit work of the internal auditor and external auditor and
ensure their coordination. The Audit Committee held four
meetings during the Year.

During the Year, the Audit Committee was engaged in,
among other duties, receiving and reviewing reports from
the Internal Auditor, reviewing quarterly, interim and annual
results of the Group and providing advice and comments
thereon to the Board. The Audit Committee also reviewed
the Group’s internal control and risk management systems
and made recommendations to the Board for improvements.
The Audit Committee considered and approved the terms of
engagement and remuneration of the external auditor, and
discussed with them the nature and scope of their audits
before the audits commenced. In discharging its duties, the
Audit Committee met with the Group’s management,
Internal Auditor and external auditor two times during the
Year.

At the meeting held in June 2020, among other things, the
Audit Committee has reviewed this annual report and
recommended it for the Board’s approval.
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() ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS AND () HEEEREI
TRAINING
During the Year, the attendance records of the Directors at NAFE JREEHFE=SEE  BXZE
Board Meetings, Audit Committee Meetings, Remuneration Eeex FHNZEee:x IERZTEee
Committee Meetings, Nomination Committee Meeting and ZN2019FERERAFRNE - LAREIZED
the 2019 Annual General Meeting, and their training RO -
records are as follows:
Number of meetings attended/held
HE/BAEERE
2019
Audit Remuneration  Nomination Annual
Board  Committee ~ Committee  Committee General
Name of Directors during the Year Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Training
B M B4 20195
EzZg E3H zZE% ZEg RRBE
RERESNE S EE EE S xg 3
Executive Directors: HAEE .
Mr. NIU Zhanbin EEgRE
(Appointed on 29 August 2019) (201958 F29REZR ) 55 - n N - /
MIr. JIANG Yulin EEMfE
(Appointed on 26 March 2020) (R 202053726 HER() N - - - - /
Mr. WU Hui RERE
(Appointed on 29 August 2019) (R 20198 A29REZ () 55 - - - - /
Ms. DUAN Di Bt
(Resignation effective on 29 August 2019) (820198 A29 AR ElE] - n n i /
Ms. ZHANG Yun FENL
(Resignation effective on 29 August 2019) (R 201958 A29AEH) 33 - - - n /
Non-executive Director: FHTEE .
Mr. FU Chi King Johnson FHREE
(Resignation effective on 29 April 2020) (8202054 R 29 BEFE) 858 - - - on /
Independent non-executive Directors: BU#EHES:
Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID Stephen MARKSCHEID 5t 8/8 44 - 33 n /
Mr. ZHANG Weidong FEERE 858 44 44 R i /
Mr. ZHANG Longgen FERAE 858 44 44 - 1 /
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(J) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL

The Group places high importance on internal control which
is the foundation of the Group’s reputation and
maintenance of clients’ confidence. The Board is responsible
for supervising a sound and effective internal control system
in order to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the
Company and the assets of the Group against improper use
or disposition, ensuring maintenance of proper books and
records for the provision of reliable financial information,
and ensuring compliance with relevant rules and regulations.
The Board has delegated responsibility to its Audit
Committee to review the Group’s risk management and
internal control matters. The risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems so that the
Group's objectives can be achieved, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee was assisted by the Internal Auditor,
to assess and review if a sound and effective risk
management and internal control system are in place at
least once a year. The Internal Auditor reported to and met
with the Audit Committee to review internal audit findings
on enterprise risk and internal control matters.

The world has been facing a critical situation caused by the
COVID-19 virus since the first quarter of 2020, giving a
significant challenge to all stakeholders in the globe. The
Group has taken a series of appropriate arrangements to
handle the impact throughout this extraordinary period.

)
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Risk management system

Based on the Group’s business and operations, Internal
Auditor, using risk-based approach, has identified and
carried out review on four areas covering financial,
operational, strategies and compliance.

The approach used by the Internal Auditor comprises the
following phases:

o Obtaining an understanding of the existing
procedures, systems and controls established by the
Group through enquiries and discussion with
management and appropriate personnel;

o Identifying and classifying the key risks faced by the
Group;

. Assessing the likelihood and impact of each risk factor;

J Carrying out review and assessment on the those
critical aspects of the key procedures, systems and
controls of the Group to address the risk factors;

o Evaluating the residual risks with the relevant control
measures taken into account; and

o Making recommendations, based on Internal Auditor’s
observations, documentation and review of the
procedures, systems and controls that could improve
the effectiveness and/or efficiency of the procedures,
systems and controls to mitigate the risks to which the
Group is subjected.

Based on the report done by the Internal Auditor, apart
from the risk of COVID-19 virus, the Group has been
reminded that the management control for new businesses
through mergers and acquisitions in different sectors should
be aware. The analysis and opinions from in-depth industry
knowledge and relevant-experienced professional third
parties should be taken into considerations.
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(J) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (continued)
Internal control system

The Group has set up an effective internal control
mechanism which are sufficient to enable the Directors to
make a proper assessment of the financial position and
prospect of the Group.

Internal Auditor has conducted a review of the Group’s
internal control system by conducting interviews,
walkthroughs and tests on the effectiveness of the
procedures, systems and controls established by the Group
in its operating cycles, in particular, revenue and receipt
cycle, treasury management cycle and compliance
management cycle.

With respect to the internal control review done by the
Internal Auditor, no major issues on control failure is noted
during the Year.

The Board has conducted a review and is of the view that
both risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate for the Group to achieve its
objectives during the Year. The Board will continue to assess
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems taking into consideration of the results of
reviews and audits performed by the Internal Auditor,
external auditor and Audit Committee and making sure that
all significant legal and regulatory requirements are adhered
to.

Dissemination of inside information

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information and enable a consistent practice of timely,
accurate and complete disclosure of material information of
the Group, the Group has adopted policies and procedures
which sets out guidelines and procedures as well as
measures to handle and disseminate inside information as
well as to establish minimum standards for handling of
material non-public information to protect client-sensitive
data and avoid violating any applicable laws or internal
policies. With these procedures and measures in place, the
Group is able to control and properly discharge its reporting
obligation, especially in relation to inside information
disclosure obligations, in a timely and effective manner and
in accordance with the requirements under applicable laws.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

COVID-19 Virus and Business Continuity Plan

COVID-19 virus presents a unique risk and impact to the
globe since the beginning of this year, it creates uncertainty
and anxiety to the global economy and produces critical
damages to some industries. The Group realised that a
traditional business continuity plan such as relocating staff
to a secondary site may be insufficient to mitigate the risk.

The Group has developed a communication plan with staffs
to ensure the coordination and cooperation can be
maintained at a satisfactory level during this extraordinary
period.

Working-from-home practice has been widely adopted in
most of the businesses, the Group has also implemented
such practice to protect our employees.

Although the epidemic prevention products and supplies
were in a severe shortage within a period of time due to the
rapid spread of virus and panic, the Group had kept
purchasing epidemic prevention products throughout the
period with the best effort to provide a certain level of
protection to our employees.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided by the Company’s external
auditor were approximately HK$1.82 million and HK$4.48
million respectively. The non-audit services were related to
the professional fees for reporting accountant services
HK$4.40 million, tax compliance HK$60,000 and other
consulting services HK$20,000.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements which
give a true and fair view in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The statement of the Company’s auditor about
its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”
on pages 56 to 62 of this annual report.

(M) COMPANY SECRETARY

(N)

Ms. CHAN Sau Mui Juanna, the company secretary of the
Company, is a fellow member of both the Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and the Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. During the Year, she
undertook no less than fifteen hours of relevant professional
training to update her knowledge and skills.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted the Dividend Policy on
21 June 2019 that aims to set out the principles and
guidelines of the Company in relation to the declaration,
recommendation and payment of dividends to its
shareholders.

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company does not have any
predetermined dividend payout ratio. Distribution of
dividends should be in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole. When considering dividend
declaration or recommendation, the Board shall take into
account the following factors: —

M

business condition and strategy of the Group;

@)

capital requirement for the Group’s existing/potential
project or investment;
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(N) DIVIDEND POLICY (Continued)

(3) earnings, financial and cash flow position and
distributable reserves of the Company and the Group;
and

(4)  other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends is subject to the
provisions of the Articles of Association and any other
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company'’s dividend distribution record in the past may
not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level of
dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in
future.

The Board has the sole discretion to recommend or not to
recommend final dividends to the shareholders for approval;
and to declare or not to declare any other dividends,
including but not limited to interim and/or special dividends,
after taking into consideration the factors as stated in (1) to
(4) above.

The Dividend Policy may be updated, amended, modified
and/or cancelled from time to time as the Board may think
fit and necessary.

(O) CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

52

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the Year.
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(P) SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of extraordinary general meeting
and putting forward proposals

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any two or more
registered members of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
or any one Shareholder which is a recognised clearing house
(or its nominee(s)) holding not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company, shall have the
right, by written requisitions, to put forward proposals and
require an extraordinary general meeting (the “"EGM") to be
convened. Subject to applicable legislations and regulations,
the procedures for Shareholders to convene and put forward
proposals at an EGM are as follows:

1. The written requisitions shall be deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong situated
at 11/F, 8 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong (for the
attention of the Company Secretary), specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists.

2. The Company will then verify the request with the
Company'’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and
upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will then ask the Board
to convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the regulatory requirements and the
Articles of Association to all the Shareholders. If the
request has been verified as not in order, the
Shareholders concerned will be advised of the
outcome and an EGM will not be convened as
requested.
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(P) SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

54

Convening of extraordinary general meeting
and putting forward proposals (Continued)

3. If within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene the
meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general
meeting but any meeting so convened shall not be
held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board to convene the meeting shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Proposing a person for election as a Director

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, no person shall,
unless recommended by the Board, be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting unless
during the period, which shall be at least seven days,
commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch of
the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting, there has been given to the Company Secretary
notice in writing by a Shareholder (not being the person to
be proposed), entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given, of his/her intention to propose
such person for election and also notice in writing signed by
the person to be proposed of his/her willingness to be
elected.

The written notice must state the full name of the person to
be proposed for election as a Director, as well as the
person’s biographical details as required by Rule 17.50(2) of
the GEM Listing Rules. Upon receipt of the notice, the
Company will assess whether or not it is necessary to
adjourn the meeting of the election to give Shareholders at
least 10 business days to consider the proposed
appointment.
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(Q) INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
transparency and employs a policy of open and timely
disclosure of relevant information to its Shareholders. The
Board strives to encourage and maintain regular
communication with Shareholders through various means.
The Company encourages all Shareholders to attend general
meetings, which provide opportunities for direct dialogue
between the Board and the Shareholders, and for
Shareholders to stay informed of the Group’s strategy and
goals.

At the annual general meeting held 13 August 2019, the
Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the
chairman of audit, remuneration and nomination
committees and representatives from the auditor of the
Company, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, were present
to attend to possible questions from Shareholders.

The Company updates its Shareholders on its latest business
developments and financial performance through its notices,
announcements and circulars, as well as quarterly, interim
and annual reports. The corporate website maintained by
the Company at www.zzcapitalinternational.com provides
an effective communication platform to the public and the
Shareholders. Shareholders and investors may at any time
send their enquiries to the Board by addressing them to the
Company Secretary by post at 11/F, 8 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong or by email at infohk@zzcapitalinternational.com.
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

ZZ CAPITAL INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
HEEAERERAAE

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ZZ
Capital International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 63 to
147, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

Independent Auditor’s Report
& X IZ S EM R S

REESEE

FRETFHRERERMNEXAE  RRHAX
PRAaPBHRANBATRREENTH GL&F
HrRaERMBRTBRGAMBHRRALL AR AR
EITREN - R TSHELFREHRERBNE

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our &,
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matter
BREEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMWETTNMEERRETSE

Assignment of convertible loan receivable to Dragon Ocean Development Ltd. (“Dragon Ocean”)

HER TR ESERE T EERRBRAF ([5EE])

We identified the assignment of the convertible loan
receivable to Dragon Ocean as a key audit matter due to
the significance of its impact on the consolidated financial
statements as a whole.
HREHGEMBRREBOTEREAER  BtE
ER K AT R E R EE T ERERN AAREAFE -

As set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, on 31 March 2020, ZZCl Corporate Services
Limited (“ZZCICS"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into an assignment and assumption
deed with Dragon Ocean, an independent third party of
the Group, to assign its convertible loan receivable to
Dragon Ocean at cash consideration of US$28,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$217,120,000) (the
“Assignment”). The Assignment resulted in a fair value
gain of HK$57,366,000 and is recognised in the
consolidation statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income during the year ended 31 March
2020.

MR G IS mMAM T 18 TE - FEEARPERBEER
RE([HEEAGERK]) - EAFNEEZENER
AR EEBNBUE=F  FIVEREREAER
1% - LAZR £ 1R {8 28,000,000 3% 7T (46 & 74 217,120,000 7
TEBEERWAIRRERT/EE ([EE]) - 2EEES
NEHE 57,366,000 7T » WHREE2020F3 A31H
IEFEOGFEEER KA E RS R ER -

Our procedures in relation to the assignment of the
convertible loan receivable to Dragon Ocean included:

EEREW AR ERERE T ERENEF 8

e Inspecting the assignment and assumption deed entered
by ZZCICS and Dragon Ocean to understand the key
terms of the deed to assess whether title and ownership
of the convertible loan receivable were transferred to
Dragon Ocean as at 31 March 2020;

o BREREEREERE MBI MEZRLAER
IR AT BRSUR MBS (R5K - PARF(E N 202093 A
3VHERWAIHARE RN ER R EAEEEEERE
R

e Involving our internal specialist to perform an interview
with the management of Dragon Ocean to obtain an
understanding of its background, including its business
and relationship with the Group;

s PREZNHEREERENEEEETHA  ATH
HES BREXBLE S£ENBEE:

e Performing company search to confirm that no
information indicating that Dragon Ocean was a
related party of the Group as at 31 March 2020;

o HETRAIEMUARERN 2020563 31 B & E K
TEER BESEHERET
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BRETEE %)

Key audit matter
BRESBE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMWETOMEERRETSE

After the Assignment, as at 31 March 2020, such
receivable from Dragon Ocean was recorded as other
receivable, which represented approximately 29.7% of
total assets of the Group and the amount has been
received in full subsequent to the year ended 31 March
2020 as disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EiE% - R2020F3 A31H @ REGEMNZSEWRIE
RERAHMEWHIE  OE SXEEEELTF297%
Binfr & BRI 19Tt - A RIEE B E 20204
3A31 HIEFERRBEKE -
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Obtaining a representation from the directors of the
Company and the ultimate holding company of the
Company to confirm that Dragon Ocean is not a
related party of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2020;

BiE BERREZRER BEARRKERATNER
HBRERELIE EXEEEE2020F3A31HIEFE
HIRAET

Comparing the consideration of the Assignment
against a valuation report in relation to the convertible
loan receivable provided by the management of the
Group; and

HEEAER S5XETEERMENE @RKATRE
ERAEREETLEE : &

Checking to the settlement documents (including bank
slips) to confirm that the consideration was fully settled
by Dragon Ocean subsequent to year end.

BEEREXH (BRERITRER) UERREERNFRE

Mg 2 = =
BHRBRETEAE °
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
& X IZ S EM R S
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Fung Hin Chiu.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

19 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
mm ,\EIII.K f@%@”i% N

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z 20203831 BILFE

2020 F 20194
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
HtaE FET FEIT
Revenue WA
Corporate advisory income ERERUA 5 15,388 1,630
Loan interest income B B A 5 1,581 2,305
Total revenue “EUT A 16,969 3,935
Net investment income (loss) WEWA (BE) F58 6 54,275 (84,992)
Interest income FEU A 6 14,153 9,009
Other losses Hithgsia 6 (19,232) (24,945)
Operating expenses X (64,385) (186,903)
Profit (loss) before tax M BT A (EE) 1,780 (283,896)
Income tax expense FriSfip 7 (191) (813)
Profit (loss) for the year FRHF (EE) 8 1,589 (284,709)
Other comprehensive income (l0ss): Hib 2 EE (B1E)
ltems that may be subsequently B eEoisEn
reclassified to profit or loss: HIEH :
Exchange differences arising on BMEBINETBEENIE
translation of foreign operations HEz 13 (523)
Reclassification of translation reserve FHEM B A R1E /R
upon deregistration of subsidiaries HEET D 3,110 -
Total comprehensive income (loss) FREEWA (E518) 4858
for the year 4,712 (285,232)
Earnings (losses) per share attributable to KA RI#EE A FE(RFIK
owners of the Company &F (E8)
— Basic (HK cents) — EARCGE) 12 0.04 (8.02)
— Diluted (HK cents) — 858 (B 12 0.04 (8.02)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FNSEIEC TS

At 31 March 2020 R2020%F 38318

2020 & 20194
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
Bt FEIT FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Plant and equipment R E K& 13 222 851
Loan receivables FEUE K 14 17,168 16,002
Right-of-use assets FHREEE 15 6,928 -
Deposits Be 16 2,241 2,341
Total non-current assets IEmBEEETE 26,559 19,194
Current assets RBEE
Trade receivables B 5 WA 17 3,513 52
Convertible loan receivable at fair value WA EF ABZR
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") HFE U AT HA AR B 18 — 167,986
Other assets and receivables H & E N EU IR 19 221,542 40,573
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFAEEN
SREE 20 3,584 6,828
Tax recoverable EEE 2,597 2,597
Cash held on behalf of clients REPEAEZIRS 21 3 3
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR AR E 22 474,053 477,651
Total current assets MBNEERRE 705,292 695,690
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade payables B S FRIA 23 3 3
Other payables and accruals HihEMRIE N ETE R 24 11,433 5,200
Tax payable FERT B IE 3,583 4,499
Lease liabilities HEBaE 25 3,931 =
Total current liabilities MBI BERRE 18,950 9,702
Net current assets REBEEZE 686,342 685,988
Non-current liability FkRBEE
Lease liabilities HEARE 25 3,007 =
Total non-current liability EmEBEERE 3,007 =
Net assets EEBE 709,894 705,182
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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At 31 March 2020 iR2020%F 38318

2020 F 20194
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
HtaE FET FEIT
Equity R
Equity attributable to owners of the NAEIGEE AEG
Company M
Share capital A% A 26 35,505 35,505
Reserves B 674,389 669,677
Total equity B 709,894 705,182

The consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 147 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 19
June 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

F63BEF 147 BirAMIEREMN 20206 A 19
AEEESSHERKETNE  YAUATRERE

Zo

NIU Zhanbin
4550
DIRECTOR
EF

WU Hui
RfE
DIRECTOR
E

65



ZZ CAPITAL INTERNATIONAL LIMITED PigEREREIRAT

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

3—5.\_1.2*2
JllijTEﬁfZEII%%
For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z 20203831 BILFE

Retained
profits

Share Share  Contributed  Translation (Accumulated

capital premium surplus reserve losses) Total
REER

Bx REE BABL BERE  (RHER) @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TAT TAT TET TAT

(Note ) (Note ii)
(W) (Histi)
At 1 April 2018 2018418 35,505 706,245 9,000 (2,631) 242,295 990,414
Loss for the year ERNER - - - - (284,709) (284,709)
Qther comprehensive loss for EREMEAEE
the year - - - (523) - (523)
Total comprehensive loss FRNEABRERE
for the year - - - (523) (284,709) (285,232
At 31 March 2019 1201934318 35,505 706,245 9,000 (3,154) (42,414) 705,182
Profit for the year EREH - - - - 1,589 1,589
Other comprehensive income for  FERE M2 EINE
the year - - - 3123 - 3123
Total comprehensive income for ~ FRZEMELEE
the year - - - 3123 1,589 4,712
At 31 March 2020 R202063A31H 35,505 706,245 9,000 31) (40,825) 709,894

Note i: The Group’s share premium represents the proceeds received from share [/ : ZANEBRMDEEERDEITZFAERIE MR EMEE
issuance, net of any directly attributable transaction costs credited to share AR BKA) » HFIARN R, SR HEF -
capital and/or share premium.

Note i The Group's contributed surplus represents the excess of the nominal value — ffzZii © ANEBMOGABBIEN L HATREEHWENHER
of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the reorganisation A EEBA & ETRIRM B BITHRQRKG
prior to the listing, over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued EEEEE -
in exchange thereafter.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= [ \vayg—]
olREREE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z 20203831 BILFE

2020 F 20194
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
HtaE FET FEIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REET
Profit (loss) before tax B A A (E1E) 1,780 (283,896)
Adjustments for: AT FIBVEH T
Interest income FEUWA 6 (14,153) (9,009)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEZFE 8 206 =
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  HE&KE &R EREE - 7,180
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 15 3,942 -
Depreciation of plant and equipment W K R T e 13 290 2,057
Dividend income ISR ON 6 (127) )
Net fair value loss on financial assets BAFEFABZNEE
at FVTPL BEATEERFHE 6 3,218 3,575
Fair value (gain) loss on convertible loan BN FE A BRI ER
receivable at FVTPL ARBEERNATE
(Yezs) Es18 6 (57,366) 81,419
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries ME ARl sEEE 6 3,110 -
Operating cash flows before movements @& & E#FFINL LIRS
in working capital mE (59,100) (198,676)
Decrease in deposits BE&RED 100 10,384
Increase in loan receivables FEUE XA hN (1,060) (16,018)
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables B 5 TE (3 hn) /> (3,461) 233,020
Decrease in other assets and receivables — E.fih & & I JlE W IE R > 36,151 2,833
Increase in cash held on behalf of clients REF#FE 2R EE M - (1)
Increase in trade payables B Z FE T IR N - 1
Increase (decrease) in other payables and — E{th B I8 K fEZTE
accruals 30 Gk ) 6,633 (9,205)
Cash (used in) generated from operations 42 %% (FTH) TEHR & (20,737) 22,338
Profits tax paid ERAFEH (1,107) (3,129)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING L %75 (FrA) 34
ACTIVITIES HEE (21,844) 19,209
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z 20203831 BILFE

2020 F 20194F
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
HtaE FET FHEIT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KEEH
Purchase of plant and equipment BEME NEE 13 (60) (824)
Proceeds from disposal of equity HEEAFEFAEMEE
instrument at fair value through other W ek T B TS F0E
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") - 14,694
Proceeds from disposal of plant and HERE KRGS 508
equipment - 458
Interest received 2 HFIE 6 14,153 9,009
Dividend income received B Uz BUA 6 127 2
Placement of time deposit with original FARBARRIHAZN
maturity of more than three months =& A8 EBRFR
when acquired (199,950) (814,990)
Withdrawal of time deposits with original  $REXAE AR REIHI B Z 7R
maturity of more than three months =B ANTEHFER
when acquired 199,950 814,990
Withdrawal (placement) of restricted RE () ZRHERTT
bank deposits T 182 (5,492)
Refund of deposit for a proposed REBRBENEARNES
acquisition of a subsidiary - 195,000
Repayment of convertible loan receivable  {EE1R A FEzT AIB25H0fE
at FVTPL W R R AR B K 8,232 -
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL BERAFES BRSNS
mEE - (4,500)
NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 8 & /EBIFT15I8 4 558 22,634 208,347
FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES BB
Interest paid ERFIE (206) =
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAE (3.842) =
CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEDFAAERE (4,048) =
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2020 F 20194
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HtaE FET FHEIT

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND I8 4 RIESZEY R )

CASH EQUIVALENTS 1 HNF R (3,258) 227,556
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATTHE ¥4 RIS ZEY

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 472,159 245,260
Effect of exchange rates changes on the ET”@JQV\M\’%HEE%E

bank balances and cash held in foreign THEBEReIFE

currencies (158) (657)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FRIRNGNBEELSEEY

END OF THE YEAR 468,743 472,159
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASHAND  IR&RIREZEBWEH DT

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash IRITHBRIRS 22 258,793 270,384
Time deposits TEHFER 22 209,950 201,775
Bank balances and cash as stated in the 424 mERFIMIRTT

consolidated statement of cash flows SEeNIRe 22 468,743 472,159
Restricted bank balances ZPR BRI TAE &R 22 5,310 5,492
Bank balances and cash as stated in the RA AR R FTE AR

consolidated statement of financial TS NIES

position 22 474,053 477,651
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GENERAL

77 Capital International Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The registered address
and principal place of business of the Company is P.O. Box
309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands and 11/F., 8 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong
respectively. The shares of the Company have been listed on
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing”).

As at 31 March 2020, the directors of the Company
("Directors”) considered that the Company’s immediate
holding company was Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company
Limited and the Company’s ultimate holding company was
FEREIER)EARERBR QG (Zhonghai Shengfeng
(Beijing) Capital Management Company Limited*).
Subsequently, with effect from 21 April 2020, Zhong Zhi Ze
Yun Capital Company Limited become the ultimate holding
company. The Company'’s ultimate controlling party is Mr.
Xie Zhikun.

The principal activity of the Company is investments holding.
Its subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
investment holding, provision of corporate advisory services,
investment advisory and assets management services,
proprietary investments and money lending.

The functional and presentation currency of the Company is
Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$").

* for identification purpose only

—REH

RiEEEABEBRERAR(ARAR]) A—HIR
BRESESENE 22 ERRNE (1961 FEH]
E3ff - KA RIEET) EFR S B S MK
VHERRBR AT o AA A M EE
i K& F E LXK B 5 Rl & P.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands X BEEZ2fF REHR 8111 o
RRARRNDEBABERXFFIBER AR ([H
KA GEM ET ([ £ l) o

M20205F3A31H  ARAEF(EXDR
7R A B H) B £ 12 R A | & Zhong Zhi Xin
Zhuo Capital Company Limited & N2 BB 548
ERARATEREULR) ERERERA
Al Hig  EFRA/ARANEKERAA
/& Zhong Zhi Ze Yun Capital Company Limited
B202054 321 BAR - AR BREERT
RIFEIRTE ©

ARBMEBRBRIERR - R B AR
(ERARRSE I AEE]) TERERE
R REECRBERRS - REBRAKRE
EETERY BFEeRERMEE -
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time in the
current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments
Amendments to Prepayment Features with Negative
HKFRS 9 Compensation

Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
HKAS 19 Settlement
Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates

HKAS 28 and Joint Ventures
Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
HKFRSs 2015 — 2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial position and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases
The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in

the current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17
Leases ("HKAS 17"), and the related interpretations.

b 2

2 D mH

78 B 35 3R
A1) &

T o St
4 2
ot i

N

%Hﬁ#’ﬁ#

N

off 3

FERHERNHITETBNE
EAREBIMBRELENEET

B #

AEBCRAFEEREAT LSS
AR ) N HI AT &8 B 5 i S B R BB B
BaE SR A -

BRHEREERE16% HE
FE(BRHBasRREEY) MENRENTHRTE
—RBEBT

BEMBREENEITETA HHBRHENENTE

BEGSERS19FETA BB BARLE

BESHENEBHETE  RNBEARRALLANE
Eili gy
AAMBREEN -0
ER T ERINGE
B

SR HES

BTSN RAFERBMIEENBRE
ERI BB B REEAEFTAHARER
Ef&iﬂ&ifﬁ’]ﬁﬂ‘%ﬂﬁ%&%ﬁ&/‘ﬁ%
ERAMBRRAMBORBETEEATE

2.1 BBUBHEEZERE16HEE

AEEORAFEREBERAERABEMS
HELERIFE 165 - BEMBHRE LR
FIEMAEFBGHEANE 7R [H
E| RAARE R -
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified
as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease and not apply this standard to contracts that
were not previously identified as containing a lease.
Therefore, the Group has not reassessed contracts
which already existed prior to the date of initial

application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application, the Group assess whether a
contract or contains a leases based on the definition
under HKFRS 16, at inception or modification date.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contracts are subsequently

changed.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial

application, 1 April 2019.

A#
:n_llli
fF T
)
E
W
g
Iff
il

A &
B EHREZER ) RERM R

RAFEBRFEMNHTEBUH
BEEAR BBV BEREERER]
A (#)

2.1 BBRBHEEERFEI16HHEE(E)
HEZES

AEBECEEZAITRE L BLEA
EREEEFEAEVTREEE(E
BB HRERELZEE)— REF4T
(BEExt2L ERAHE ] B RHEE
ZAKNEREBEEM K REELF16
Sk - ISR RT I R BB R B EE
EZAKNERZEA - Bt - N&EH
VESHFERERERBHIER
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

As at 1 April 2019, the Group recognised additional
lease liabilities and right-of use assets at amounts
equal to the related lease liabilities adjusted by any
prepaid or accrued lease payments by applying HKFRS
16.C8(b)(ii) transition. Any difference at the date of
initial application is recognised in the opening
accumulated losses and comparative information has
not been restated.

When applying the modified retrospective approach
under HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the
following practical expedients to leases previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-
by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the respective
lease contracts:

(i) relied on the assessment of whether leases are
onerous by applying HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets as
an alternative of impairment review; and

(i)  excluded initial direct costs from measuring the
right-of-use assets at the date of initial
application.

A EAMBBREERN(H
BHEEL ) REBHBE R
AMERT A ()

REAFEBFEMNHITERYH
ﬁ*ﬁﬁﬂ&?%ﬂﬁ%iﬁ*ﬁﬂﬂﬂ*?
(%)

2.1 BERBEHEEAF16HEE(H)
1EREA (&)

RZFB-NFHA—H AEEEB
F& R &8 B 75 ¥R 5 2 B % 16.C8(b)ii)
HBEEREINIERENRERESE
E - HeBHESENKEEMENSKESS
HENFAENABEERE - 1)
SRR BN ETAZERP R E
BRERANERERLEST

ERERARBEEF BV B HREERSE
1658 E MIEBUEH AR - NEEYH
BERBEESAENEITHRIER
REENZEE  UERREE AR
E EXRBENHESVHERASLENANRE
RATHEESR

() BEEBEEGEREI7HR
(B AARRERAAEEF
RREBRBZBER A FHEHE
ERTEBEE &

(i) MYLERRHFTEEREEE
R B F 00 EL IR KA
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)
When recognising the lease liabilities for leases
previously classified as operating leases, the Group has

applied incremental borrowing rate of the relevant
group entity at the date of initial application. The

TEBMEREER([&F
HEL ) RE B KR
HE:NEC-),

i E—JEB’&%UE;&E’J%ET?%E\M%
igﬁ HARBBMBEHREERER]
(%)

#::ll' :n||

e P 37 5
78 Bt 3%
% A&
P

ﬁ

IfF i

2.1 BBRBHEEERFEI16HHEE(E)
ERABEA ()

REMSBRKEERE HERAE
ERER AEECRERERRH
ERRASEEERZIZEEENEX -
EMZMEFHIZEFENERR

weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied 2.28% °
is2.28%.
At 1 April 2019
720194 A 18
HK$°000
FEIT
Operating lease commitments disclosed M2019F 331 AEBEZEEHE
as at 31 March 2019 HAHE 11,132
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant 2019 4 A1 RIZMEBEEN X
borrowing rate as at 1 April 2019 WIR2HEEAaE 10,780
Analysed as K=
Current mED 3,842
Non-current FETED 6,938
10,780
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own

RAEFEBBEMNHIT BB K

BEEARBEMBEREERE]

(#®)

2.1 BEBHBEHEERE16KHEEH)
1EREAA (B)

MR2019F4 1B ZEBEEER®T

use as at 1 April 2019 comprises the following: BERATEEAR :

Right-of-use

assets

FREEE

Notes HK$'000

MteE FEIT
Right-of-use assets relating to operating BB BB SIS 2R 5 16 57T
leases recognised upon application of R EERERR 2 (FRE

HKFRS 16 BiE 10,780
Amounts included in plant and equipment 201943 A 31 BiREE S &
under HKAS 17 as at 31 March 2019 EANFE17RETARE R&EZ

TR

— Restoration and reinstatement cost —EBRERER (@) 399
Less: Accrued lease liabilities relating to S 201944 B 1 HEHN

office premise at 1 April 2019 ERBEIEFHEHERE (b) (309)

10,870

Represented by: KK :

— Office premise — MRERFT 10,870

Notes: Bz -

(a) In relation to the lease of office premise that the Group acts as (a) RAKEERAEANHAERMEEM
lessee, the carrying amount of the estimated costs of T BRERGABRE REZEZHEET
reinstating the rented premise previously included in plant and ZIEEt R AR2019F4A 1B 2 REE
equipment amounting to HK$399,000 as at 1 April 2019 were 399,000 BTt A BEREEE -
included as right-of-use assets.

(b) These relate to accrued lease liabilities for leases of properties (b) BEBAARERAH 2 MERE 2 ETHE

in which the lessors provided rent-free period. The carrying
amount of the lease incentive liabilities under other payables
and accruals as at 1 April 2019 was adjusted to right-of-use
assets at transition.

SRE - EMENRAREFERZEE
BERAMBN2019F4 A1 B ZHREERS
R RBREEREEE
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FERAHIEEHMBEREEN(E
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B BEREER]) REBMKR
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) EERETT AR (&)
New and amendments to HKFRSs that are REAEERFERNFITEBHB
mandatorily effective for the current year MEEA N EBMBREERNEET
(Continued) Kg)
2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) 2.1 BEEUBHEERFE16HHEE(E)
As a lessee (Continued) 1EEEEA (B)
The following adjustments were made to the amounts BEtR2019 F4 A1 HERE HHAK
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial MERFPHEABNSEEL TR - K
position at 1 April 2019. Line items that were not REFHZENHEBLRIA -

affected by the changes have not been included.

Carrying
amounts Carrying
previously amounts under
reported HKFRS 16
at 31 March 2019  Adjustments at 1 April 2019
M2019 %
481H
SRR 2019 F REEBHE
3A31H HBEERE165
HREZEAE A SHEZEREE
Non-current Assets FREBEE
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE - 10,870 10,870
Plant and equipment = K& 851 (399) 452
Current Liabilities REBAE
Lease liabilities HE&aE - 3,842 3,842
Other payables and accruals — E ftb e {< 5038 2 fE 51
b= g=2! 5,200 (309) 4,891
Non-current liability *REBER
Lease liabilities HEAE - 6,938 6,938
Note: For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating HiaE - BIEREE AR 2 HREB E2020F 3 A31
activities under indirect method for the year ended 31 March BIEFEREEEHMERERE 8
2020, movements in working capital have been computed EEES BT IR EREZGRE VB
based on opening consolidated statement of financial position MERMR2019F4 A1 B 2 BV FHRAAE -

as at 1 April 2019 as disclosed above.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that have
been issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’

Amendments to Definition of a Business?
HKFRS 3

Amendments to COVID-19-Related Rent
HKFRS 16 Concession?

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to Definition of Material®
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39
and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform?

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a
revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was
issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

The Directors anticipate that the application of all new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

A BEEMBRELA(F
B BEHREZER ) REEMER
HEAMEET AR ()

C M B & RAER 2 # 5] B M
HEAREITA

REEIEIRFRAIATEB/MIERARER
ZHERI B AW HRE R RERTA

BEMBHRERAS 7R RKRAL

BAMBRERAEIN  EBMER?
{ERTAR

BAMBRSEAE 16  AETRREREN
BRI HeEss

BEMBREEAE 10N REFEABENFK
BRI HRERAE 28T AELEIANEE
BRI HEFTE

BRI AT IRREL BANER
BIERIF SRR A

BEMBHREEAEIN -
BRI REEAE RN
BRMBREENETHE
HES

(ESSTED

! R 202141 A1 BRZEFRBRZ FREHMRHER
? WU B IR 2020F1 A1 A ZEMBM EEF
EHRETIR R ETE 0 B E R

2 720204 6 A 1 Bk & Fth 2 F 8 B A R
4 E BHISk 2 14 BRI B0 G R AR AR

s R 202091 A1 BRZEFA 2 FE R ER

BEXZHFIBEMEREENRBERTA
HN - 2018 F B T RS T BB BEHREZ
BE2HESE - HEKIER] - BB ®EER
ZBESAESRIES 2 18ET - #9820205F1 AN
Hek 2 B FIERFE B AR -

EEHHERMBNAIEEMBHRELENR
{ERTANIA R] R 2R & EH4R & B 5 ek &
REAZE -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for financial instruments
that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are account for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 Leases (since 1 April 2019) or HKAS 17 (before
initial application of HKFRS 16), and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

3.

TESRTEE

RATBRERIZBESSMASHEGZ
EBMBEWMEEAMBER - I - AT
KEXBEEFEBRAX AR D RGEME
% EmRBI(TGEM TR AN R EE QA
&0 ([ A BHER ) FT i E R ER I E -

FAEMBBRRDIRELKNALHEE - ESE
TARSIN  EREREPROQFETE -
FEMENTIEFBER

BB s A — AR & RIS 2 (R B2
AFEET -

AFERRTEAMSL2EERRERFR
SHRHELEMUNSEZABEAINZE
% MARZER G EEBRIERA
BEAMGEET EET - REFEESBEY
ANEER  AEESEEZEMHEL2HEER
ATEAUEEXABBETERATEEZEESK
BEZEL RZSEAVBRERTIETE
/SR BER R ATEIRILEEETE -
TEEBREBMERELERNE 25 UR G
BEBLTNEBRAZ ABRDBERI N 2R
5 BEEEVERELAF 165HHE(H
2019F4 1 HE)S BB ERE179(E
REREBMIEHRELERFE 16507 TAZ
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee

if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

FESTHER®)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s interest in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

FESTTHER®)
GEEE B

BN B HS B & R IR BIRERS - ISR YEAR
Rk YRAEBREHZMERRZE
HERZ LA RKR - LEHZ  HBARAR
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RRF—2 -

AEERERRHARRZNMEEEAR
AIREENEE  #xmE A FXXAREA
ERECREE AR 2HHH -

FEEREENBAR ZEDSH

ol 78 5 ) Sk 25 S P B 8 R B A - RRZH
BARMNEERABIAKIEERER (0F)
SRWBUHER - Wat B EN B R - I
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Corporate advisory income

Corporate advisory income from providing specified financial
advisory services in relation to type 4 (advising on securities)
and/or type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activities within the scope of financial services related
activities, are recognised at a point in time when the reports
are issued under the terms of each engagement and the
revenue can be measured reliably, as only that time the
Group has a present right to payment from the customers
for the service performed. Invoices for the financial services
are issued upon signing service contracts and when research
report is delivered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered
as additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances
of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 April 2019)

All leases are classified as operating leases. Operating lease
payments, are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a
reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except
where another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
asset are consumed.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payment arrangements
Equity-settled share-based payment transaction

Share options granted to employees and others
providing similar services

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment, to the share options
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at date of
grant, the fair value of share option granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve, if any, will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will continue to be held in share options
reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of the
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication
that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication
exists, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

FESTTHER®)
BB K& E

B B R TR B A TSR LR IR A AN Rl B
BREBFHTERERRRERE(E )R -

18 YA B RORTERR - DB 8
Mo E A E AR S B EME - A2
R - R EE R E RTINS RS
RIBE - (AT EARE 2 FEBARHAR R
LA -

BERRERBNHERNERARETH
HBEENEEE ARG EN S BUR i
R HEAREMEMRBHEBEL ZEMR
Wessk Bl - REEMBHEALZEERE
Bz EZRETE - YNERPHER -

BERREREREEERE

EREPR - NEBBZEBE Ml M
EEAZwHEAEEENREENEER
BFETMPRBERELEECELRER
K MRGEEALETR - BISHIEEE
ER AR ESEERER - UWEERERX
MiEE (WA) °

R 55 e sl B M A B EE (@ B (A 5t AT Mk Bl &
B o WEAMGEHER AT E S5 - BIAKE
R EEMBREEEEMNAIRESHE -

BESN - REEF AR EFHEEEEER R
ENTR - WEEZTR - AIEEEENRA
DEEERNRESELENRAITOERE A&
MeBEREENREENREELBMR/)
#Bhl -



2019/20 ANNUAL REPORT & ik

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fom © B 5 Bk 2R Bl 53

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z 20203831 BILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment on plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets other than goodwill

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or the group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in

the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the Group’s

ordinary course of business are presents as revenue.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application of HKFRS
9/initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value
of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a
business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i)

(if)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt instruments
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Equity instrument designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instrument at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
OCl and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment.
The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to
profit or loss on disposal of the equity investment, and
will be transferred to retained profits.

FESTTHER®)
SRIE®)

EHEE (&)

EREEN T BERAENE (B)

(i)

B ER AN R EA

HERBHERAGTENSREE R
gmATFESAREMEEYRE BB
TEMHMEWATIERERFRET
ATER - FMIBWATDE —BeMEE
EHAERBERMERTUHE  #
HemBREERENEREE(R T
BRoh e MERHIRERRENESHE
EMs - BT —HREHE - FIWA
DHEREERERAEAERN X
TAER - HEERESBRTAMNE
ERRyE F2REETHLRE
ERE REETEETHBLREER
B1& - B8RS HFHRERNBUATIE
TREERAAERBERNET A

o

EERIL AN FHEFAEMEEILZEL
ERETA

BAFEFAEME2EEETENE
s TAREHERL AV EFE ME
AFEZPHEENRBER A EEK
SRERIYNIREEEHFRER  ME
JREITRIER G - HEZBRERER -
Rt WaHBERETEEFT I BER
a0 WKEBEERE G



2019/20 ANNUAL REPORT & ik

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NSEIPEE &S VS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z 20203831 BILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial asset at FVTPL is measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the “net investment income (loss)” line
item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including loan
receivables, deposits, trade receivables, other assets and
receivables, cash held on behalf of clients and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based
on the Group'’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions
at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on trade receivables are assessed
individually. For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

0

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

3.

FESHBE®)
SRIE®)

EHEE (&)

EREERE(E)

(i

(i)

EEmBRAE LI (&)

AEBETRERBUBFIEERR S
DREFENMNFEENRR - YREE

BHRIEHIERT - T IR A B IZ 2ERE
598 SR IE 18 BR A 4k 51 M5 B R B R 3 4
hn e

BRTEZ

RAMEERREEMS - AEER
o BHSHEARIHIETRE AN
KR BRI RER AT KA LA H
FEEA (BIEANEE) &R CREFRA
SEPTR AR ) B EA -

Pim Lt AEERS EEE
BEEBHBBOB MIELENE
o BRIEAKERAAE BRI X
ERBEREMBRNENEEE RE
2 - AR o



2019/20 ANNUAL REPORT & ik

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NSEIPEE &S VS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z 20203831 BILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iif)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group ‘s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3.

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Debtors with significant outstanding balances or credit
impaired were assessed individually. Where ECL is
measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet
be available, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and days
past due.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received is recognised in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables and other
payables and accruals are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

FESTBE®)

SRIE®)

CREERERTA

BB ERH
EEERET Y EEREXTADREAD

RHZANRRERABELIEETANTERD
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BT AR RAEERERGEMBR
ERMEBEETHNHRREANEMNSLN - KK
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BBITRAFER ©
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the Directors are required to make
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following is the key assumption concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for other receivable

Other receivable with significant balance and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually. The provision rate is based
on the Group’s historical default rates taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable, supportable and available without undue costs
or effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed
default rate is reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s other receivables
are disclosed in note 31.

EREFTHAREE 2 EZRR

RAMEIMAAEREZ @5 RERE &S
AREABEMRREE cBEMBBEZK
EEFEGEFTRRR - ZF T RBRRRTD
RESELRIEMESEBIAEMIE
he BEREREZSEFTHAER -

B REBRRGFHER - ML
Stz BT BIERI %t < B8 - BREE
RIS EZ MR © WIEETH E 7l AR
BRI ATE - RIFEIELERT M RARREA
TR o

BRARZEIERIXENBERRGHT
BEMZEMERRR(AFAIEHRT —E
MRFEZEERABREELRAREDE
ZERER)WAT -

Htt EWREN R EEHERE

Hip R BB E TR EERIRRE -
BAEEMNAAEEREENRSER  BF
ZREEFNHBZRARE H TR ERF
ZEBRRAEBNATIREEY -NEHRER
H - BECEBRZENEIMEEHNFG - I
SEEANRUEENZEE -

FEHEEEEREBUATEZEZHR AR
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors have been identified as the chief
operating decision-maker (“CODM"), responsible for
making strategic decisions, allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments.

The CODM, who allocates resources and assess performance
based on the consolidated financial information for the
entire business, considers the Group operates only in the
provision of corporate advisory services and money lending.
Information reported to the CODM for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment focuses on revenue
analysis by services provided. No other discrete financial
information is provided other than the Group’s results and
financial position as a whole. Accordingly, the Group does
not present separate segment information other than entity-
wide disclosures, major customers and geographic
information.

Revenue represents the net amounts received and receivable
for the provision of corporate advisory services and money
lending.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from major services are
as follows:

5.

WAR D EBER

WITESCHRATELCERARE  BEIE
HIREEARR - pEREREFBEE DI HEK
| o

TBLERARE (ERBRAMBENSE
BEBOIREREFERE)RR  AEE
RAFEH EBHE DIt b X RS R B
E-BOELHEERMAEREERRE
HE B RHUIERIZATIR R RIS E L A 1K
ADHT - BRASBEHBEBEE RMBIRN
oh - BB EMIBI B ER - Bt - i
ERBESEE TEFPRHRERIN K
SEWEZFBILDELEF o

WA et IRt (b BRI RIS R B & B W e
LGP/ RTVE S

REBETERBWANDITEAT

2020 & 20194

HK$’000 HK$°000

FET FET

Corporate advisory income EREEUWA 15,388 1,630
Loan interest income BRF B WA 1,581 2,305
16,969 3,935

A point in time H B 15,388 1,630
Over time i 5 1,581 2,305
16,969 3,935
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA RZHER &)

(Continued)
All services are for periods of one year or less. As permitted ARG ABH—Fs AT - RNEFBT
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these REXERIEISHEB NG WEFES
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed. BEZERTRANNZHERE -
Geographical information hEER
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) XKREIBEFLHKA
2020 F 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Hong Kong a5 2,869 2,902
The People’s Republic of China i ARFEFNE ([HRE])
(“the PRC") 12,551 628
The United States of America =
(the “USA") 1,549 405
16,969 3,935
The revenue information above is based on the i ABR T ERZFEMEREZ
location of the customers. ) o
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information (Continued)

(b) Non-current assets

WARDEER (&)
HEER (&)

(b) ¥ HBEE

2020 & 20194

HK$'000 HK$°000

FET FET

Hong Kong a5 7,150 847
Israel A5 — 4
7,150 851

The non-current asset information is based on the
location of assets and excludes financial instruments
(e.g. loan receivables and deposits).

Information about major customers

Revenue from the major customers amounting to 10% or
more of the Group’s revenue are set out below:

FRDEEEHRNEREEMEM R
Y TEEemITA(MEKERNZ

&) e

FEREFER

KEEXERP(EAREEKARN10% A E)

MU AE ST -

2020 20194

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Customer A' BEA 5,835 -

Customer B! EFB 4,296 -

Customer C! BEEC 2,349 -

Customer D? ZFE D2 - 405

Customer E' ZFEE - 410

Customer F3 = E P - 2,850
g Income from corporate advisory ! REERERZ WA

2 Income from loan interest

3 Income from corporate advisory and loan interest
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NET INVESTMENT INCOME/(LOSS) 6. WEWA(EIE)FE FEK
INTEREST INCOME/OTHER LOSSES A/ H A& B
An analysis of the net investment income (loss), interest WEWA (EE)FE - FEWMAAREME
income and other losses is as follows: BHISFTWOT -
2020 & 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Net investment income (loss) BEWRA (&5B) FE8
Net fair value loss on financial assets BAFEFABZNEMEE
at FVTPL NEBEBETE (3.218) (3,575)
Fair value gain (loss) on convertible loan &2 F(EzH AIE 258 FE UL AT #2 A%
receivable at FVTPL (Note 18) BERHAFEKE (E18)
(K1:E18) 57,366 (81,419)
Dividend income % B A 127 2
54,275 (84,992)
Interest income FEWA
Interest income from financial assets at ~ JREE A SR EER
amortised cost FEWA
— Bank deposits — RITER 5,325 9,009
Interest income from financial assets BRAFEAEBRS
at FVTPL SREERNMERA
— Structured deposit — ERBIEFR 8,828 -
14,153 9,009
Other losses HibgE
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  H &M E & &R ENEIE - (7,180)
Loss on exchange differences i H =R EE (16,122) (8,903)
Loss on early termination of operating RERIEKEHERENER
lease agreements - (8,862)
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries B A REE (3.110) =
(19,232) (24,945)
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7.

108

INCOME TAX EXPENSE Fri& iR
2020 F 20194
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Current tax: BIHARR IR
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") B 7h B FTIS AR 2,175 635
The USA Federal, State New York City EFEEIB - M RALITATEH
Income Tax = 15
United Kingdon (“UK") Corporation Tax ~ HE{>ZER{ 18 - 136
Israel Corporation Tax AR = 18
2,175 804
(Over) under provision in prior years BAEFEREGBRE) T B
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEEBNEH - 9
EIT PEMEH 831 -
UK Corporation Tax REPERIEA (2,815) -
(1,984) 9
Income tax expense FTEBiR < 191 813

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity is taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million is taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime continues to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The Directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

R2018F3 A21H » HALEEEIBE(2017
FRHBUEE]) (B75R) EHIEZR) ([EHE
=) HE|AFBHMAS o ZIEHERR
2018F 3 A28 HEEEM AZEZEANREAR
EFRTIE - RBFNESHMHES - aERE
BEEENEZE2EEBITHEFIA8.25% T
REYH - MBBE2AEB T2 HEFIA16.5%
BB R - TRHEFSHEMAHERANE
B B B )% AL 1B 181 6.5 % B — T R o

FEERE BONESHMASMALI RS
B BHGRAMEREMs L TEK - ZME
FEMNBAMNBSRIRGEITREF A
16.5% =18 °
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

The U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Act”) was enacted into
law on 22 December 2017. The Act includes significant
changes to the U.S. corporate income tax system that are
effective on 1 January 2018, including a reduction of the
U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%. The
Directors considered the Act has no significant impact to the
consolidated financial statements.

The corporation tax rate in the UK is 19% for both years.
The corporation tax rate in the Israel is 23% for both years.
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit

(loss) before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

Frigdimx (@

RIEPRHCEMESTE((DEMERE]D &
EMSTOEE GG - 2 EFE S R
BARRIMEAE25% °

FEURBER LR (VAR K 2017512
B2R2BMFEER - ZARKEEEERD
EMEHRHEER2018F1 A1 BEARNE
AEH BEBERCERSHRHE3I%
BE21% - EERE  ZEARTEHEEH
BRERELEEATE -

A MEFERBEHDERTIG R 19% °

M E S E ARSI R EIGR23% °

2K¢F$RI§F;?J§ET§53?V?QT5ﬁﬁ&,ﬁ\ﬁﬂiﬁﬂﬁz
mRZEBADE N (B1R) HERMT

2020 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Profit (loss) before tax Bri AR M (E18) 1,780 (283,896)
Tax calculated at domestic income tax WA E 16.5% T E#)
rates of 16.5% g 294 (46,843)
(Over) under provision in prior year iﬂ&iﬁ@fﬁ(ﬁgﬁ)ﬂ'i (1,984) 9
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax ~ HBZERFUA Z 755
purpose (10,164) (477)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for  NE[IF L =2 Bi g o2 2
tax purpose 564 17,784
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BRI AR R TIIBE R
recognised (207) (26)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RIER M AB AR IBEL ZFG
recognised 2 10,986 30,358
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries Efth TlyEAE R L EM B A 75 X
operating in other jurisdictions PRIz & 751 (307)
Others EHAth (49) 315
Income tax expense for the year KEZEHRAX 191 813
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 7.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has tax losses of
approximately HK$537,226,000 (2019: HK$496,656,000)
incurred by the Company and its subsidiaries which are
subject to the approval by the relevant tax authority. No
deferred tax has been recognised in respect of tax losses due
to unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses
may be carried forward indefinitely.

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 8.

The Group's profit (loss) for the year has been arrived at
after charging:

R8BI (@)

M2020F3HA31H - ASEEAARRAIRE
B B8 A &) i 2= A B IE 518 49 537,226,000 74
7T (20194 : 496,656,00078 7T) * IfE+ERE &
FAKE BB ISHEELE - AR R EFR
AAITER - HURS B R IE S EERER
WERTE - BiTEEE ] IR ERAEE -

FREM (ER)

AREBENFREN (B8 ) EHks THISIEA -

2020 F 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Auditor’s remuneration G 1,823 1,080
Legal and professional fees FEREXEER 31,627 50,263
Employee benefit expense (including EERNFAX (BREREEHM
Directors’ remuneration (note 9)): (H1a£9)) -
— Salaries, wages and allowances —I& - FHa k2R 20,292 72,450
— Discretionary bonus — BIBIEAT 231 6,543
— Retirement benefits scheme — RIREFIF B R
contributions 278 261
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEBEZFE 206 -
Depreciation of plant and equipment M E R AEITE (M5 13)
(note 13) 290 2,057
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE (fiZ15)
(note 15) 3,942 =




2019/20 ANNUAL REPORT & ik

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO SR EMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z 20203831 BILFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 9. EERRSITHAEME
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, B EBAGEM B &R A LA ER
disclosed pursuant to the applicable GEM Listing Rules and EERGERTBRAEFESFMHAOT

the CO, is as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2020 BZE2020F3H31HLEEFEE

Other

emoluments

paid or payable

in respect of

Director's

other services

in connection

with the

management

Retirement  of the affairs

Salaries benefits ~of the Company
Directors' and other  Discretionary scheme or its subsidiary Total
Name of director fees benefits bonuses  contributions  undertaking  remuneration

RESH RS

(HEBANF

FENELT

SEEE)

5 e RUBR  ZHfEH
£33 E=zhe AR WA s AEAHE aMag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$000
Fén Fén Fén Fn Fén Fn

(Note 3)
(Hi#3)
Executive Directors (Note 1) UrER (N 1)
Mr. NIU Zhanbin sy
(appointed on 29 August 2019) (R201958 A 29 HEEFT) - 1,585 - 8 - 1593
Mr. WU Hui R4
(appointed on 29 August 2019) (20198 2 29 BEE() = 455 - 1 - 461
Mr. JANG Yulin BEMEE(HER)
(chief executive officer) (20205326 HEZ )
(appointed on 26 March 2020) - 55 - - - 55
Ms. Duan Di Bt
(resiqnation effective on (120198 A 29 HEET)
29 August 2019) 840 - - - = 840
Ms. Zhang Yun FRAT
(resignation effective on (201958 A 29RE)
29 August 2019) 574 - = = = 574
1414 2,095 - 20 - 3,529
Independent Non-executive BUkHTEE
Directors (Note 2) (hit2)
M. Stephen Markscheid Stephen Markscheid %5 788 = = = - 788
Mr. Zhang Weidong FEREL 788 - - - - 788
Mr. Zhang Longgen FRRLE 788 - - - - 188
2,364 - - - - 2,364
Non-executive Director FoTES
Mr. Fu Chi King Johnson LA 240 = = I - 240
4,018 2,095 - 20 - 6,133
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 0.
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2019

BEERBETHRAEME @

BZ2019F3A31BHLEE

Other
emoluments
paid or payable
in respect of
Director's
other services
in connection
with the
management
Retirement  of the affairs
Salaries benefits  of the Company
Directors' andother  Discretionary scheme  or its subsidiary Total
Name of director fees benefits bonuses  contributions undertaking  remuneration
HESE RS
(EERALNE
FEHBAE
ZERB)
Z8R BERH BERN  ZHER
ESfY EELES HfhigHl WA HEME  GEAME Lhias
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
(Note 3)
(Hi#3)
Executive Directors (Note 1) UnEE(Mi1)
Ms. Duan Di (chief executive officer) Bttt (778 484) 2,062 - - - - 2,062
Ms. Zhang Yun FEXT 1406 - - - = 1,406
Mr. Chen Jianfeng Peter (Note4) R84 (#it4)
(resignation effective on (R2018F11 A1 BET)
1 November 2018) - 5183 2,000 15 2,500 9,698
3,468 5183 2,000 15 2,500 13,166
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES
Directors (Note 2) (Hit2)
Mr. Stephen Markscheid Stephen Markscheid % 788 = = = = 788
M. Zhang Weidong REREE 738 - - - - 788
MIr. Zhang Longgen FEREL 788 - - - - 788
2,364 = = = = 2,364
Non-executive Director FTES
M. Fu Chi King Johnson AR (R 20195
(appointed on 28 March 2019) 3A28REZM) 2 - - - - 2
5834 5,183 2,000 15 2,500 15,532
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

The chief executive officer's emoluments and executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as Directors.

Bonuses are discretionary and are based on the Group’s
performance for the year.

Salaries and other benefits paid to Mr. Chen Jianfeng Peter include
his service in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the payments made in respect of his loss of office,
amounting to approximately HK$2,500,000, during the year ended
31 March 2019.

There was no arrangement under which any Directors
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during both

years.

None of the Directors received or will receive inducement
fees for accepting of office as directors.

Details of the material interests of the Directors in
transactions, arrangements and contracts entered into by
the Group are set out in note 33.

9.

BEERBETHRAEME @)

it -

HtaE2 -

HiaE3 -

Mtet4 -

EXFRITRBREATEST CHEIREE
BARRREMBAREBMIEZ REMEH -

ERBURTESEIMEe NREETESM
R4k o

A ERAEBFERRBPIERTE -
HE2019F3A31BIEFE I TR

SRS REMEMNOEREEERARAREE
Ko EL BB 0 ¢F A9 15 5149 2,500,000 7 7T

BEEMEENZMEFEREXFRERE
ERIH B R B

BEE TR RBGRERET ARE

Ebo

BEERNAKETUARS - KERAGHTH
B A BENMEE3S
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included one (2019: one) Director, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2019: four)
highest paid employees who are neither a Director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

10.

AuEESHMES

FR - AEBANSRESFHNE TEE 1
(20194 : 1) ES - HHFEFFBHN EX
MIEE9 > R - $2 N4RL(20194F  4f7) 3F
ARBIEEXEZSTHRABRSHHESD
HIMFFBT -

2020 & 20194

HK$’000 HK$°000

FETT FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - 2BL R EWHZE 5,879 26,187
Discretionary bonus 158 I IEAL 153 9,674
Retirement benefits RARIE A 62 36
6,094 35,897

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

FEZHMEE T BEANTR=HMESR

ABIT

Number of employees
EEHE

2020 & 2019

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000
HK$12,500,001 to HK$13,000,000
HK$14,500,001 to HK$15,000,000

1,000,001 7T 2 1,500,000 77T
2,000,001 77T 2 2,500,000,8 7T 1
5,000,001 87T E 5,500,000 7 7T =
12,500,001 % 7L = 13,000,000 7 7T =
14,500,001 & JT £ 15,000,000 7T =

3 —

—_
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11. DIVIDENDS 11. RE
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders HZE2020F3A31BIEFEWXERARNT
of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2020, nor TRRR X M@K TRE - BmEER
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the VAR ISR R BT AR B (2019 4F : f&) o

reporting period (2019: nil).

12. EARNINGS (LOSSES) PER SHARE 12. BRER (&BE)
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings (losses) per RATHEEAEEEERERN LB BERT (F
share attributable to the owners of the Company is based 18) JYIRIBIA T EUSETE -

on the following data.

2020 F 20194F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Earnings (losses): ZF(E8)
Profit (losses) for the year attributable KRR ER AEML
to owners of the Company FREF (BE) 1,589 (284,709)
2020 & 20194
Number of shares: R EE -
Weighted average number of ordinary M EFRERR
shares for the purposes of calculating HERT (EE) 2
basic and diluted earnings (losses) ToE IR R S8
per share 3,550,496,836  3,550,496,836
Diluted earnings (losses) per share amount was the same as HAREZ2020F3 A31 HItFE W& F
basic earnings (losses) per share amount as there were no BETEELBEK(2019F : &) HER
potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding for the year EERT| (18 ) BEREARBT (EBER)MERE -

ended 31 March 2020 (2019: nil).
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13. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. HEK®RE

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HE B £8
Y AE k#E AE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
COST 2%
At 1 April 2018 MN2018F4 7 1H 2,185 9,631 707 12,523
Additions NE 711 113 = 824
Disposals/Written-off HeE HEE (2,194) (8,439) (707) (11,340)
Exchange realignment RS 9 (418) = (409)
At 31 March 2019 7201943 A31H 71 887 - 1,598
Adjustment upon application of P EREHH R ELEE
HKFRS 16 F16EHELMAR (435) = = (435)
At 1 April 2019 (restated) R2019F4 B 18 (KE7) 276 887 - 1,163
Additions INE - 60 - 60
Disposals e = (9) = (9)
At 31 March 2020 M2020F3 A31H 276 938 - 1,214
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZE:tifgE
At 1 April 2018 R2018F4 A 1R 271 2,069 153 2,493
Provided for the year FRBE 351 1,635 71 2,057
Disposals/Written-off H&E SRR (564) (2,914) (224) (3,702)
Exchange realignment ER R 2 (103) = (101)
At 31 March 2019 ®2019F3A31H 60 687 - 747
Adjustment upon application of R EREBH KRGS
HKFRS16 F16REELMEE (36) - - (36)
At 1 April 2019 (restated) R2019F4 A 18 (E=751) 24 687 - M1
Provided for the year FREE 92 198 = 290
Disposals HE = 9 = 9)
At 31 March 2020 720203 A31H 116 876 - 992
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 March 2020 R2020F3 A31H 160 62 - 222
At 31 March 2019 201938318 651 200 - 851

The above items of plant and equipment are depreciated on
a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Over the shorter of lease term
or 20%
20% to 50%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

Motor vehicles 20%
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14. LOAN RECEIVABLES

14. EWWER

2020 & 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Fixed-rate loan receivables R E BER 17,168 16,002

On 22 May 2018, the Group has signed an ancillary
transaction agreements with Aretex Capital Partners, LP
(“Aretex Capital”) include a loan commitment agreement in
which the Company agreed to advance an amount of
US$2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$15,600,000)
for a term of 7 years at an interest rate of 9.5% per annum
payable on a quarterly basis to affiliates of Aretex Capital so
that they can make capital contributions in order to satisfy
the requirements of certain fund partnership agreements for
their investments in, among others, the acquisition of GKD
Index Partners, LLC's equity interests (conducting its business
under the name “Alerian”).

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of loan
receivables amount to HK$17,168,000 (2019:
HK$16,002,000). The loan receivables are secured by the
partnership interest in Aretex Capital. The borrowers are not
permitted to sell or repledge the pledged interest in Aretex
Capital and its affiliates, and Aretex Capital has certain
equity interest of Alerian. There has not been any significant
changes in the quality of the collateral held for the loan
receivables. The Group has not recognised a loss allowance
for the loan receivables as the amount is insignificant.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 31.

201845 H22 H - ZR& [ £ Aretex Capital
Partners, LP ([ Aretex Capital |) 2% 7] #9 Fff B 32
SR BREREHRR  BUEARRRE
12 G FI| 2R 9.5% [A] Aretex Capital HBE 2 A 24
~N—% 557 12,000,000 7T (HHERH
15,600,000/ 70 ) ZUE « M BEREE LA
NEFEAER EENRRRSREREN
ETHESARWENER AR aEKE
GKD Index Partners, LLC #R% 4 (JA [ Alerian |
BB REITER) o

202063 A31H  BRERNEERER
17,168,000 (2019 : 16,002,000 7T) ©
JE U B X A Aretex Capital B9 & B #E 25 1B 1K
o [ERATFHE LB EIR Aretex Capital
N E B A AR - 1M Aretex Capital
WA Alerian K)E TRRHE - BLIEW E AT
KR EEWHETRAEAEE - AEEW
AREREREREERE  BRASBIT
BKXo

RERF RSN HIEE31 o
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. EAEEE
Office premise
WAEYE
HK$'000
FHAEIT
As at 1 April 2019 "2019F481H
Carrying amount REE 10,870
As at 31 March 2020 7" 20203 A31H
Carrying amount FREA 6,928
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZE2020F3A31HLFE
Depreciation charge WEEZER 3,942
Total cash outflow for leases HERSMH R 4,048
For both years, the Group leases office premise for its MER - NEBHERAEMHEEEZE -
operations. Lease contract is entered into for a fixed term of EHEECHRAIFNHEESL - HE
3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis. In FEE R A F13 R o A M B R ET A AT
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the BESENRER  ~EBERERMNER
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a W E A R A o8 Hl8h 1T A B o
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.
16. DEPOSITS 16. B&
2020 F 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Rental and management fee deposits HehEBEELS 2,236 2,236
Others EHAh 5 105
2,241 2,341
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17. TRADE RECEIVABLES 17. EZEWFE

2020 & 20194

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

Contract with customers HEFEHNEH 3,513 52

The Group’s trade receivables arose generally from the
provision of corporate advisory services.

The Group’s normal trading term with its customers is that
payment is 90 days or due upon the issuance of invoices.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management and executives responsible
for the related revenue. The trade receivables amount has
been received in full subsequent to the year ended 31 March
2020.

All trade receivables are aged within 90 days based on
invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

All of the Group’s trade receivables as at 31 March 2020
and 2019 were within their credit terms with no default
history. The Group does not hold any collateral or credit
enhancements over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 31.

AREBENE 5 RUGKIE— KRR B DX
A AR

REEHEREFHN—REZEREBTRER
90 AN MR B HBEEZREIMY M o &
S BRI R B M EUGRIE -
BER N EHAAERABRANSREREA
BENITAETHR - EZRWFESEH
EREE2020F3 A31 B ILFEERSKD -

BERBMTE - EEZRKRFARERE
HIRAERE B 2R R0BERA -

AREEMN 202053 31 H K 201943 A 31
Bz EE SR EEEESR I
HEIBAROEE c AEEW AL T HERESBE
A ERS S FRIER -

B RBERER A2 E— FH BN E
31
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18.

120

CONVERTIBLE LOAN RECEIVABLE AT 18. R AFEFTABZNEIW AR
FVTPL B
2020 & 20194
HK$'000 HK$°000
FHT FHT
Convertible loan receivable at FVTPL BATEG AEERER
AT AR E R = 167,986

On 7 September 2017, ZZCl Corporate Services Limited (the
“Lender” or “ZZCICS"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a loan agreement (“Loan
Agreement”) and a security agreement (”Security
Agreement”) over shares with Geoswift Holding Limited (the
“Borrower”), an independent third party of the Group,
pursuant to which the Lender agreed to grant a loan facility
of up to US$31,000,000 to the Borrower for a term of 18
months at interest rate of 7% per annum (“PayEase Loan")
with 3,053 shares of Geopay Holding Limited (”Geopay”)
registered in the name of the Borrower that are mortgaged
and charged in favour of the Lender as collateral
(“Collateral”). The provision of the loan facility allows the
Borrower to fund Geopay to finance the payment of part of
the consideration for the acquisition of PayEase Beijing (HK)
Limited and PayEase (Hong Kong) Limited which was
completed by Geopay on 11 December 2017. In connection
with the loan facility, on 7 September 2017, the Borrower
granted a call option over 2,000 ordinary shares out of
10,000 shares of Geopay to the Lender, representing a 20%
interest in Geopay, at an exercise price of US$31,000,000.
The total number of outstanding shares of Geopay can be
increased to 13,000 at the discretion of Geopay as permitted
in the agreement, resulting in a conversion of the Group's
interest over Geopay to below 20% at the time of exercise
of the call option by the Group.

M2017F9A7H  FHEEXRLERBEER
RNRI([ERAI X [FEEALERE] &
AR —EEE2ENEB A R)) B Geoswift
Holding Limited ([fEFXA ]+ AEBHBIF
=R)EIMERBZE ([ExBE]D RRHE
Wi ((EAHE]D Bt ERAREM
BEFRAR H &% 531,000,000 TR E R
& RHE18ME A - & F X &7E ([PayFase
B - BEAEFUAERABRZLH3,053
% Geopay Holding Limited ([ Geopay ) A% 1%
BRI ZERMDENERABZEEAIER
R (EAR]) - ERBEEBERAT
# Geopay 12 fft & & X 7 B PayEase Beijing
(HK) Limited M1 B {5 5 X (FH) BR QA
7 Z8 5 X 1B - A Geopay 722017412 A 11
HEK - tERBEMS * N2017F9 A7
H - BRARE R AL 10,0007 Geopay
B 17 # 592,000 I8 B AR H R B BAAE - AHE
R BT #F Geopay 20% #E @m0 E1THEE A
31,000,000 7C ° FEHFEALTFHBRT -
Geopay Al B E B HTRMDAEEME
13,000 8% + B B A 5 B 7Y Geopay B # 2 7R
REBITHE R AERE KR 20% °
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18. CONVERTIBLE LOAN RECEIVABLE AT 18. WA FEFT ABZ N EI TR

FVTPL (Continued)

As at 31 March 2019, management performed a fair value
assessment of the convertible loan receivable at FVTPL based
on binomial option pricing model. As the Borrower had
defaulted the principal payment and interest of the PayEase
Loan due in March 2019, management considered the debt
of the convertible loan receivable at FVTPL would have a
minimal value. Therefore, the significant input was the
equity value of Geopay. Management had engaged an
independent firm of professionally qualified valuers to
perform a valuation of Geopay using the discounted cash
flow model under the income approach.

The equity value of Geopay was determined based on a
financial forecast of Collateral business covering a five-year
period and a pre-tax discount rate of 21.80%. The
remaining forecast cash flows beyond that five-year period
were extrapolated for a steady revenue growth rate of 2%
thereafter. Based on the fair value assessment, the Group
recognised a fair value loss of HK$81,419,000 on the
convertible loan receivable at FVTPL for the year ended 31
March 2019.

The PayEase Loan is a level 3 financial instrument and
change in fair value of the convertible loan receivable at
FVTPL are affected by the significant unobservable inputs of
the binominal model including the financial forecast of
Collateral business and the pre-tax discount rate used in
determining the equity value of Geopay. The higher the
equity value of Geopay, the higher the fair value of the
convertible loan receivable at FVTPL. If the equity value of
Geopay used was 5% higher/lower while all the other
variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the
convertible loan receivable at FVTPL would increase by
approximately HK$8,399,000/decrease by approximately
HK$8,399,000.

I=&/8C )

201943 A31H @ EEERE _ENH
RETEERDEIRA T EF ABmAER TR
REFETAFETNE - BRERASHER
5220194 3 A B #i A9 PayEase B 51 AY 7R
ERAE - MEEERABZATET AER
FFEUR PTHRAR B S E IS EERIE o Bt
F Z 8 A BB B Geopay I IR HEEE - B2
BEZE—MBILAERGEMAR  RIE
WAERARBERSRERE - #H Geopay
HEITIHE -

Geopay H) % 7 (& B 5 1R 15 & A F 2 R Y
G2 B 5% 78 B & B AT Bh 3R X
21.80% EE - HBiBZ AT MM TTEE
REemBERHEHEENBERSERERA
2% o RIBAFEFG  REBREZE2019
F3A31 HIEFEHRZRAFETABSHE
W AT R B SRR A B &5 18 81,419,000 7
=

PayFase BRI —1EE3RSR T E - MR
FETABSNREK AT R E RN AT EE
A2 B R E AT ] B ABIE
s - RiERHREBNTBIENRBR
& 7E Geopay % # B B &9 % B Bh IR &= o
Geopay iR EEEM R @ B QA FEF A
B ERATBRERETNRAFEREES © W
Ffr{ F3 8 Geopay AR #E (BB _EF T B& 5% ifn
FiEEMmESHFETE  BlIRAFEFAR
HAEWATREERMRmMERS S E L
8,399,000 7t JR %) 8,399,000 A T
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18.

19.

122

CONVERTIBLE LOAN RECEIVABLE AT
FVTPL (Continued)

On at 31 March 2020, ZZCICS entered into an assignment
and assumption deed with Dragon Ocean Development Ltd.
(“Dragon Ocean”), an independent third party of the Group,
pursuant to which ZZCICS has agreed to assign, and Dragon
Ocean has agreed to accept the assignment of, the ZZCICS's
right, title, benefits and interests in Loan Agreement and
Security Agreement at cash consideration of US$28,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$217,120,000), which is
included in other receivable as at 31 March 2020. A fair
value gain of HK$57,366,000 has been recognised.
Subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2020, the
consideration was fully settled by Dragon Ocean.

Details of the above transaction were disclosed in the

announcement of the Company dated 7 September 2017
and 31 March 2020.

OTHER ASSETS AND RECEIVABLES

18. M AFEFTABRZNER AR

B

R2020F3 A31 0 AEEARPERKEE
BEEARAR(NEE) (REENBYE=
)RR RAERE - Bt EE R E
[RISERZEZE MERCRENREARE
28,000,000 T (A& 1 %7217,120,000/87T)
BEMTPEERDERBEZRE R B KK
DB EER - rERE - RIS
BHRERET AR 202063 A31H 2 £t fE
~FFRIE » 57,366,000 78 T A F{E K 25 E 1
R RELE2020F3A31HIEFEE
EBRNRECHEEZEE -

N ERGHBERARRABIHEA2017F9 87
HX202053A31BZ AEHE -

9. HihEE R EWKIE

2020 & 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Prepayments B FIE 883 819
Refundable rental and management AREHSLEEERS

fee deposits - 36,037

Other receivable (note) H {h fE U FRIB (A 5E) 217,120 =

Others Hph 3,539 3,717

221,542 40,573

Note: As at 31 March 2020, the balance represents consideration receivable
from Dragon Ocean, in connection with the assignment of the
Group's convertible loan receivable. The amount has been received in
full subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2020. Details are set out
in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 31.

HiaF - 1202093 A318 - BRAKHAKRAFEANE
BB BEEERATRRERAERNE - ZHIE
EREZE2020F3 A31 B ILFEEBEURE - 5
BERERE IR HRERME18 -

Hith B R EWSIB 2 #E— e IR RN M &
31
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 20. RAFEFABERHNERMEE
2020 & 20194
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Hong Kong and the USA listed equity DERFIEEEZEER
investments classified as held for EF FHRERE 1R
trading, at quoted market price Frskm & 3,584 6,828

21.

These investments include listed securities in Hong Kong of
HK$2,328,000 (2019: HK$3,444,000) and listed securities in
the USA of HK$1,256,000 (2019: HK$3,384,000), which are
level 1 financial instruments and the fair value are based on
the quoted bid prices in an active market. There are no
significant unobservable inputs.

CASH HELD ON BEHALF OF CLIENTS

The Group’s licensed subsidiary maintains segregated trust
accounts with a licensed bank to hold clients” monies arising
from its normal course of business. The Group has classified
the clients’ monies as cash held on behalf of clients under
the current assets section of the consolidated statement of
financial position, and recognised the corresponding
payables to the respective clients as trade payables on the
grounds that it is liable for any loss or misappropriation of
clients’ monies. The Group is not allowed to use clients’
monies to settle its own obligations.

21.

ZERERERES EMFES 2,328,000/
(20194F : 3,444,000 7T) RERH &S
1,256,00078 7 (2019 4F : 3,384,00078 7T )
HEEI1HREMTE  MEAFENERE
BHBHRESE - MESEATAHEGA
g o

REFRFAZRE

REB M FFHEHTE QBN FFHERITRRIEL
EERP  UEHEBEEKBRTELN
BEFPHIA - ARBCHEFPRENBERES
MBRARRDEERR TREFPHAZR
T BHRAHEFPFREX BRI A
MAEEE - At @RS ERE P ERARE
MRENRIEERE BRNFIE - AEBTE
EREPFIRBEREHEL
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22,

23.

24,

124

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

22, RITEREBEE

2020 F 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FEIT

Restricted bank balances SR HISRIT 4S5 5,310 5,492
Short-term bank deposits RHERITIFER

— with original maturity within — REBER=EAR

three months 209,950 201,775

Bank balances and cash RITHEBRNIR 258,793 270,384

474,053 477,651

Bank balances carry interest at floating rates of 0.01%
(2019: 0.01) per annum.

As at 31 March 2020, the short-term bank deposits with an
original maturity of three months or less amounted to
HK$209,950,000 (2019: HK$201,775,000). Term deposits
bear interest rates ranging from 1.46% to 2.80% (2019:
from 1.03% to 2.70%) per annum.

TRADE PAYABLES

Included in trade payables are payables for clients monies of
approximately HK$3,000 (2019: HK$3,000) which are
segregated in the trust accounts.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

RITHEBRIZF ZEF E0.01% (20194 :
0.01%)5H8 °

MR202063A31H - REBA A=A
LA A /9 58 B 4R 17 1% 3% /4 209,950,000 7% 7T
(20194 : 201,775,000 7T)  EHERKH
FE R RN F1.46%ZF2.80% (20194 : A
1.03% £2.70%) °

23. EZENFRIE
TIAE S ENFIBAR P FIEZ BN FRIEL
3,0007% 75 (20194 : 3,000/ 7T ) * BBt
AEFEEF -

24. EtENRERETE A

2020 20194F

HK$'000 HK$°000

FET F#ET

Other payables and accruals B fth fE AT 5B R FERT B A 11,433 5,200

All other payables are non-interest-bearing and have a term
of one month to twelve months in both years.

RZMEFEMEEMENRARRERE
BMRA—EAZT—@EA -
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25. LEASE LIABILITIES 25. HE&E
2020
HK$°000
FHET
Lease liabilities payable: ENEESE:
Within one year, shown under current liabilities —FR IR REBAET 3,931
Within a period of more than one year but not ZR—FENEBMENHARRA -
more than two years, shown under non-current TIRIERBEET
liabilities 3,007
6,938
26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. B
Number of
shares Amount
BREE &8
HK$°000
FEIT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each HiR0.01 B THEBERK
Authorised: VETE
As at 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, MR2018F4H1H ~ 20194
1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 3H31H 2019%F4H1H
K 2020F3 A31H 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEBITRAR :
As at 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, M2018F4H1H ~ 20194
1 April 2019, and 31 March 2020 3HA31H 2019%F4H1H
}2020%3 A31H 3,550,496,836 35,505
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27.

126

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 7 June 2010, the Company adopted a share option
scheme which became effective on 18 June 2010 (the
“Share Option Scheme”) and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the date of
Listing. The Share Option Scheme has expired on 18 June
2020. No share option has been granted since the adoption
of the Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company
is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to
120,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of approval of the Share
Option Scheme. Before its expiry, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is
120,000,000 Shares, representing 3.38% of the existing
issued share capital of the Company. The maximum number
of Shares issuable under share options to each eligible
participant in the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company within any 12-month
period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in
excess of these limits are subject to shareholders’ approval
in a general meeting with such participant and his/her
associates abstaining from voting.

27.

IR EET &

R2010F6 A7H @ AR RRA— BRI
& HR2010%F6 818 B £ ([ R #
ETED - MBRIESEEHERIER]  HBa E
mHBRBERI0F - BRHEFTEIE 72020
F6A18HKM - BIRMABIAETBIARI
AR TR R AR o

IR BT A IR IR R AR MR B R AR RIE A E
fhERRR AT E) IR A M R AT R AR i i = X
B A&+ % 7% 120,000,000 A% A% 15 (BN & #E 17
FERARRRIERIRETSE BB #HIT
DEI10%) ° KRIKAT  RBEF BB T AT
17 I D #8805 120,000,000 PR 17 - HHE
MARGIRBBETRAN3.38% ° IRIER
& #ETE(E (] 1218 A BRI R A] 3217 T R A
B RAR BT EMRIET S S A B
2HEZE NG RS E RRAR R EFRHE
BEITRMA1% o (I —F R BB
FREERRBIEAN IR R IR HEE (A8
LA REBBE AL ARERE) -
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive Directors (excluding any
independent non-executive director who is a prospective
grantee). In addition, any share options granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue or with an aggregate value (based on the closing
price of the Shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
independent shareholders’ approval in advance a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 21 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The
exercise period of the share options granted is determinable
by the directors and ends on a date which is not later than
10 years from the date upon which the share options is
granted or the lapse of the Share Option Scheme, whichever
is earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the Directors but may not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Shares quoted on the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business day, (i) the
average closing price of the Shares quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant, and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of
Share Option Scheme.

27.

R fERT 8 ()

BYIARBIES ZRTBRABXFERE
AR ENBEA THRIIEBLEE L IE
WITER(TREEN G BEERRANE L
IERITEE) FIHE o BIN - WIRIBR
RERT B AR AR E A SRAR REET 8152 4
AR T AR RN EERR S BLIENTT
EEYEMRENHBATBARRGE
TTHRAE0.1% s MEM 12 18 A BRI 488
(EBRMREBEHEHNETmESL) BB
5,000,000 8 T AE AR REARE FLEBT
R S LA

RERDREEANARAZINRERES
HUBTR RIREBHEF21 AR
B CRERBBENTERATHESEE
W BRI R B R 10FHR
IRIESHBIRRE A (ARFERE) &

REENTEEIREFET - BTFER
THMERRE  VRONRLHBEH(LAR
L B) BRI ERUTE - (i) RO E
B B H AT AR & R B R AT P R A
B E - R Gin) R EE °

RBELEE TRHAAZAREIRRRA
G IR ZERN -

BN RS BIRE - SRR LR -
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28.

128

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS
Hong Kong

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme established under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in
December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of trustees.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5%
of the relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme subject only
to the maximum level of payroll costs of HK$30,000 per
employee, which contribution is matched by the employees.

USA

The Group provides the option for employees of its
subsidiary in the USA to participate in a 401K retirement
plan. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of a plan
manager.

For employees choosing to participate in the plan, the
employer matches contributions of up to 4% of the
employees’ relevant payroll subject only to the maximum
level of payroll costs of US$10,800 per employee.

UK

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme for the
benefit of the employees of its subsidiary in the UK. Under
the scheme, members may elect to contribute up to 5% of
relevant payroll costs and the contributions shall be matched
by employer.

28. REMKETE

)

B2 EB SRR FENEH R
2000 12 AR KR TEE T8 - ZAT 8
BEBYNASREMNEE - AXTAZHIN
EeHER -

HEESTEKEMS AEBIZEBRITE
FRAK) 5% MBS AT EIMHR - B RE
B8 30,0008 TR TEKA AR - Bzt
BERHK—E -

EE]

AEEARZENBARNNERRNS R
S0VKR RS BIRDIRIR - ST BIMBE B
RARBMARE - M BIERARHNES
A o

HRRELEZAENEES  BEEXHRaEE
BHBETENA%EHEN  BUEMIEES
0,800 E T TE R AN AR o

—

SR E

AEBESHLBENE A REENNEMRE
FUEHARET 8 - RIBEZATE - KEREESR
SERBEIERANS% ELHK - BEE
MR R B (R — B -
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29. OPERATING LEASE 29. KEHE
20194
HK$°000
FET
Minimum lease payments under operating leases ~ FRELHE 7 HEHEEMK
during the year 37,603
At 31 March 2019, the Group had commitments for future MR2019FE3A31H "EEEFRIENI
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating T HAPR BN HE A9 S O sy AR A T B FE AN 2 R 2R
leases which fall due as follows: RS HIE -
20194
HK$°000
FET
Within one year —F K 4,048
In the second to fifth year, inclusive E-FEERF(REERMT) 7,084
11,132
Operating lease payments represent rentals payables by the KEHENTEREERERAEYHEEN
Group for its office premise. Lease is negotiated and rentals WS  HAKEREE  MESEIFNH
is fixed for terms of three years. [E]5E ©
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30.

130

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged over years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank balances
and cash and equity attributable to owner of the Company,
comprising share capital, retained profits and other reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on a periodical
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the Directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debt.

A subsidiary of the Group (i.e. ZZCF) is regulated by the
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”) and is
required to comply with certain minimum capital
requirements according to the rules of the SFC. The required
liquid capital according to the rules of the SFC was
HK$3,000,000 as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019.
The management monitors ZZCF's liquid capital regularly to
ensure it meets the minimum liquid capital requirement in
accordance with the Securities and Futures (Financial
Resources) Rules adopted by the SFC.

30. EXERERE

AREBEREERNURRASEE BN
BRERE RREBELLEBREDER

IR B E - S - A E e
BB TE -

AEENEAGBBRRITERMIRE KA
NEHEEARGED  BREEAE - REBEH
Ko ELth s

EEERRAEARRE - ERARNREEN—
Mo BEEEETEARAARBAERER
HEANRR - RIFEZEFNEEER - A&E
5B BRSBTS [ R AR DA B
BITHEIBORAEHE LA FHEERE
BAZRE -

AEE—HEHBAR (AFEERATCERE)
REFPHEERERZE S ((FET DR
T BARBEIRZEGRAETETREER
RE o MN202043 A31 8 K 201943 A 31
H BESHIAMBEZRBELRA
3,000,000 7T - BEEETHEERHEHE KR
TEREZRBERN  UBREBREZS
Bz (BHFERBE (FHRER) RAD - me
HIERBERRTE °
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31. €RiTH

31a.Categories of financial instruments 31a. £@t T 2RI

2020 & 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Financial assets SREE

Convertible loan receivable BAFEFABRR

at FVTPL FEU AT IR AR B SR - 167,986
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAFEFABENEREE 3,584 6,828
Amortised cost B Ak AN 717,637 535,258
721,221 710,072

Financial liabilities SRIBE
Amortised cost B IER A 11,436 5,203

31b.Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments comprise of
bank balances and cash, loan receivables, deposits,
trade receivables, other assets and receivables,
convertible loan receivable at FVTPL, financial assets at
FVTPL, cash held on behalf of clients, trade payables,
other payables and accruals and lease liabilities. Details
of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risks (currency risk, interest
rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

31b. B EREEBERBEK

AEENT2ZeMITABERITEAR
kRE - BURER L EHEHK
HIE - HfEENMEWHIE - BAF
Bt A\EERIATRERER - A
FEFARENEREE KEPH
B2Be  BZEMFIA - HMAEM
RELEFERALEEAG AR
MTANFERSMERRE - B
FE T ARERNEREETSER
(B R M =E R &EAMmERR
%) EERBRMRBIERR © AT
HIAREZSRROBEK - EHEE
HZERARETEEREE  DHER
KB BRI REVEE R o
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b.Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

The Group’s exposure to currency risk
attributable to loan receivables, deposits, trade
receivables the convertible loan receivable at
FVTPL, other assets and receivables, bank
balances and other payables and accruals which
are denominated in the currencies other than
the functional currency of the entity to which
they related. The management manages and
monitors this exposure to ensure approximate
measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

31. €T A %)

31b. B EREE R FERBE &)

5 B

(i)

BE¥mER

AEEmEEAERERGEES
RO BB HENRKER ~ 17
T - BHRUGR - ImAFER
ABRSH WA ER - B
BENMBWHIE  RITEBRKLE
EMNFAREFERELNR
WER - EIEEEEILEEIE
R+ LARECR M BB QU BREGE S
R

RIS IR - AR B AN
B A B R A B M R T
T

Liabilities Assets
=N BE

2020 & 20194 2020 & 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FHET FET FHET FET
us$ ETT 5,701 3 318,406 261,802
Pound sterling ("GBP") &% - 210 1,699 150
Renminbi (“RMB") AR - - 3,630 130
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b.Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on a 10% increase/decrease
in functional currency of respective entities
against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% is
the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for
a 10% change in foreign currency rates. A
positive number below indicates an increase in
post-tax profit, where functional currency of
respective foreign entities had weakened 10%
against the relevant foreign currency. For a 10%
strengthening of functional currency of
respective entities against the relevant foreign
currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profit and the balances below
would be negative.

31. €T A %)

31b. W EREE R FERBEE &)

m5 Rk (&)
(i) E¥RE(E)
BRE D

AT E DT IR I IERE E 88
ZMEEE R HRBEINE 2 FHE/
HEI0%ET - 10%AMEE
EEEABTEANIRE INE R R
& B8 [E FTAH HNE [ R 45328

SERMER CBRELLE - &
RREDHTEBIEAINEHEZ 14
AXMNEEBE  THRREHK
1 10% 2 JNEE B 3= B B i BE AR
L70E - LNESERRERIEZ
wmAIG I - EHRAEEEINE B
ee & S EEINEIZE 10% -
BRI E BE TN AL B K BRSNS
FE10% - g sMEERSE
MRz FE  MUATEHEE
B o

GBP RMB
HEE ARH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
2020 20204
Decrease in profit for the year s )Rk (142) (303)

2019
Decrease (increase) in loss
for the year

20194

FAEER D (B 0)
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

134

31b.Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Currency risk (Continued)

For the exposure of HK$ against US$, there will
be no significant impact as HK$ is pegged with
US$. Accordingly, no foreign currency sensitivity
analysis is presented.

Interest rate risk

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances (see note 22 for details). The Group's
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates
on bank balances and Hong Kong dollar
denominated deposits.

The management considers the cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances is insignificant and therefore no
sensitivity analysis on such risk has been
prepared.

31. €T A %)

31b. B EREE R FERBE &)

5 R B (&)
() E¥RE(E)

(ii)

HRBTTEE TR - BB
ETRRITEEATE - Fiit -
3 & 2 HSNEGURE DT

IET S

AEBRE S Y SRITHESBRE
FAH IR SR 8N R R R (F R K
f22) AEEWREREF X
Bk E B EFRIRITERMBTT
FHEHTRE LN RKE -

ERER AT BRITEHRARER
MESRENXREBRELTEX -
B ERL SRR R EBEE D
i



2019/20 ANNUAL REPORT & ik

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO SR EMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z 20203831 BILFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. M IT A @)

31b.Financial risk management objectives 31b. KRR EE B ERBE (&)
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued) g E ()

(iii) Other price risk EHibEE R

(iii)

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising
from held for trading investments. The Group's
equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity
instruments operating in securities and
brokerage and internet industry sectors quoted
in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and National
Association of Securities Dealers Automated
Quotations. The Group is also exposed to equity
price risk arising from the convertible loan
receivable at FVTPL.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity
price risk at the reporting date. If the equity
prices of the held for trading investments had
been 5% higher/lower (2019: 5%), post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 March 2020 would
increase/decrease by HK$150,000 (2019: post-
tax loss would decrease/increase by
HK$285,000) as a result of the changes in fair
value.

AEEmEFIFEEREELN
BERR - AEEBRERRE
BEEPEFBMIMLMEIER
R E SR LA BB ETTE
BRERER - AEBE T EEZR QT
Bt AR U R IR B R E
EH R ERE

BERE S

AR SURE D AT TR I RS B H
R B R E R QBT - e
BEERERME LR T EK%
(20194 : 5%) * R A FEH
IR E - & E=2020F3H31H
LEFFE R B 14 0% FI 5 48 b, ek
4>150,000% 7L (20194F : R %t
f& B 1B 1% R > 15 1N 285,000 7%
JT) °
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

136

31b.Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2020, the financial asset’s carrying
amounts best represent the maximum exposure to
credit risk.

Trade receivables from contract with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk for trade
receivables, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual debt at the
end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made and other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group performs impairment under ECL model
upon application of HKFRS 9 on trade balances
individually and performs impairment assessment
under incurred loss model for the year ended 31
March 2020. Based on assessment by the Directors,
the loss given default is low by reference to forward-
looking information and repayment histories for
recurring customers. Therefore, the ECL on trade
receivables is considered to be insignificant.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 51%
and 100% of the total trade receivables was due from
the Group’s largest customer and the two largest
customers respectively within corporate advisory
business. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits and
credit approvals.

31. €T A %)

31b. B EREE R FERBE &)

= B K B EFF L

MR202063A31 B 2R EENERR
ERERKEMERNEEEERR -

BEFENELNEZBKHE

ARERKEZRKFBEEERR
rEBEREED R —ZBERNAEE
TEEHEE  EEZEEMETERE
Fr o DARBIR EREX R 38 77 B) Uk ol 38 2R &
o lbih  REEERSREHRRRKR
AEEBUER 2 JIKE S EARER
FrRFERBEEERE  URITEE
fth B 1 72 i A REAR SR BN ER 3 1T B R ()
B EIETS o Bhoh - BIE 2020 3 H 31
BIEFE  AEEREREEVHER
HEHEAFIRBIRBEMEEEEE
RNEZEFERETENRETSE - I
BIFE EEBBEEXETRER G -
BEESHNTE  WRELERRR
MAEEER RERESR DR B4
FBRERE - - At - B EWERRD
TEHEEEEBTERK -

AEBNZRAREREAEMUEF
(HRECEBMEBNER) D RIL
AEBZ S EWRMRIEBNI%R
100% ' At GEEFNEERR - &
THEERRE ML AEEEEE
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b.Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Other receivables

For other receivables, management makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables based on
historical settlement records, past experience and
adjusts for forward-looking information. The Directors
believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in
the Group's outstanding balance of other receivables.
The Directors believe that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group measured impairment
based on 12m ECL. Based on the assessment by the
Directors, the probability of default and loss given
default is low and therefore the ECL on other
receivables is considered to be insignificant.

Loan receivables

Before granting the loan advances, the management
of the Group has obtained an understanding to the
credit background of the debtors and undertaken an
internal credit approval process. The management
closely monitored the subsequent settlement of the
individual loan. The loss allowance is individually
measured at an amount equals to 12m ECL since as
there had been no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. In determining the ECL for
these assets, the Directors have taken into account the
financial position of the counterparties, the industries
they operate, as well as their latest available operating
results, in estimating the probability of default of each
of these financial assets occurring within their
respective loss assessment time horizon, as well as the
loss upon default in each case. Based on assessment
by the Directors, the loss given default is low by
reference to value of collateral and repayment histories
of the debtors. The Directors consider the 12m ECL for
loan receivables is insignificant.

31. €T A %)

31b. W EREE R FERBEE &)

= B KB EFF G ()

At fERFHE

EEERBAEEEERLE BELR
K B HE B R 58 B S EL A R TR Y
] W [B] 14 72 B ) B B8 BF 4 R M8l B
e EERRAKEEH R EFIAN
AREEEHREBEANEERAR EER
A5 A A 1] 5 HER A R & K R
EEERR - mMAKERRE12E
AEHGEEERGERER K - RE
EEMRAE - BOTRREREBAOER
RERE - FHE b AR B HIE
EEBEBTEK -

ERTERZA  AKEEEEET
REKANEEERLETAIREER
EHRERF - EEEZYERERNER
MRERE - BEBBDREEN12
EARBEEERNEEBMTE -
FREZB T ERUREERRIL &
BELT REETZZEEENTRBAE
ERER EXEERYUF NG
AR BERLERMETERERHE
BERE UAFSEREEEEHE
BRIEREBERNNZORE - LR
ERBEATHROER - REEZH
AHE - A2 EERRNEEREBA
BERELLE  BOBBRXRE - &
ERREBWETM12EABREERE
BB TEK -
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b.Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit agencies. The
Group assessed 12m ECL for bank balances by
reference to information relating to probability of
default and loss given default of the respective credit
rating grades published by external credit rating
agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m
ECL for bank balances is considered to be insignificant.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows.
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31b. B EREE R FERBE &)
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ERZEFHFRRBEREERERT
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RITEBZEERRER - BE5E
R2ZHEE R RRIBEMIERAE
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31b.Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity and interest risk table

31. €T A %)

31b. WA EE B ERBER (4)

RBELEEE (E)

mBEE R TS AR

Repayable on
Weighted ~ demand or Total
average  within one undiscounted Carrying
interest rate year 1-2years  cash flows amount
MEFRH RERS AARRS
fE  -FREE 122f RELE FRHE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
% FET FET FET FAT
At 31 March 2020 R202053A31A
Trade payables B oA 3 - 3 3
Other payables and accruals B ENZIEARETER 11,433 - 11,433 11,433
Lease liabilities HEBR 4,048 3,036 7,084 6,938
15,484 3,036 18,520 18,374
At 31 March 2019 R201963A318
Trade payables ZSERTA 3 = 3 3
Other payables and accruals B ENZIEARETER 5,200 - 5,200 5,200
5,203 - 5,203 5,203
32. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF 32. TR T RAZAFERE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets (i) SEREEMEENUQATE
and financial liabilities that are measured FTEvEREERSRAEZ
at fair value on a recurring basis AEE

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the
valuation techniques and inputs used) are disclosed in
respective notes.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their fair value.

AEEZETEREENESRE Y
RZAFEFE - BZEFEREER
FENEETECLERAAMGET A
k28 ERNERBER ST

EERREAMBARNRPIREHAK
AEBNeREERSRABE KT
BEREQNFERS -
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32. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

32. R IT A2 AV EE S

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets (i) XEERKLEMEELQAFE
and financial liabilities that are measured NTEZESREERSREEZ
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) NEEE)

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, # £2020F &2019F3A31H It F
there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and B BN -F_H/RE=ZH MBI
Level 3. MR o
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2020 R2020F3 531 HZ2 X FEER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& FHR F=R st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
Financial assets TRMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL IR AF(ET AEBZRZ
CRIEE 3,584 = - 3,584
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2019 R2019F3 H31 HZ - FEER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F— F_R E=M BET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL 2 AFEFTAEBZRZ
CREEE 6,828 = = 6.828
Convertible loan BATEFABRD
receivable at FVTPL FEU AT IR IR B X - - 167,986 167,986
6,828 - 167,986 174,814
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32. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF 32. TR TR ZQAFEFE®
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value (i) E=H L2 FEFTEWHER
measurements
2020 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Convertible loan receivable FEY T HAAR B 3R
Opening balance HRW) 4564 167,986 249,405
Repayment B2 (8,232) =
Change in fair value NEEES) 57,366 (81,419)
Disposal e (217,120) =
Closing balance IR AR = 167,986
Change in fair value for the year FABENEE
included in profit or loss NEEE 57,366 (81,419)
In estimating the fair value of the convertible loan Mo ET R TR & SR 20194 3 A
receivable as at 31 March 2019, the Group engaged BNAZATER  AEEZREEBEE
an independent professional valuer to perform such EEHEMETHBGRE  ARETE
valuation. The management of the Group works BB X MLERMZ S (EARE
closely with the independent professional valuer to HEBERERERN2EHY -

establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the model.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs BREEFTERETEEATEMA
used in determining the fair value of the asset is Y E R BERIE18

disclosed in note 18.
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed in notes 9 and 14 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following transactions and balances with related parties
during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

(@ On 22 May 2018, as described in note 14, the
Company entered into several ancillary transaction
agreements with Aretex Capital, and ACP Index
Partners Holdings LLC, an investment vehicle managed
and controlled by Aretex Capital. Aretex Capital and
its affiliates were indirectly controlled by the then
directors and key management personnel of the
subsidiaries of the Company as at 22 May 2018 but
ceased to be directors of the subsidiaries of the
Company or the Group as at 31 March 2019.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel,

33. BEAXRS

BARA M BRMEAMTIONI4FFINRS
G AEBRE E 20204 KX 201943 A 31
BIEFEEEERET MRS M EER -

(@) M20184F5A228 - wKTFE14FTHEAL -
X A &) B2 Aretex Capital &2 ACP Index
Partners Holdings LLC (Aretex Capital
BERREHN—ERERR)FTLZIE
B /B 22 5 175 7% © Aretex Capital K F B
BARMAN2018F5H22 B RAAT
MBARMERESERTIEZEERREA
B (HR2019F3A31BETHEMT
RATIMEBARNESE) S

) FEEEBEAB(BRASERTEER

including executive directors and key management of TEEER)/H
the Group:
2020 F 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Short-term employee benefits REES R 7,627 15,742
Retirement benefit scheme RIRAEFIET B R
contributions 37 15
Total compensation paid to key ENEEEEABEIEE
management personnel 7,664 15,757

Further details of Directors’ emoluments are included
in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 34, AATWIESHE D TS

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Group's principal subsidiaries at the end of the WEHRAEB FENEBE QRN FFIBTEYIMN

reporting period are set out below: T:

Place of Paid up issued/ Percentage of
incorporation registered equity attributable
Name and operations capital to the Company Principal activities
L] B 3L BrERT/
A REEHH Bl e NG 2 $ ] TEER
Direct Indirect
B &
2020F 20199 20205 2019
% % % %

ZZCF Hong Kong HK$10,141,140 - - 100 100  Provision of corporate advisory
and investment advisory
services

PEEREERE BE 10,141,140 87T L RERRREBER RS

77CI Credit Limited Hong Kong HK$10 - - 100 100  Provision of corporate advisory
services and money lending

hEEREERRAA BB 10% 7T RECXBERRBRREE

ZZC| Corporate Services Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100 100  Provision of corporate services

Limited and money lending
HEERCERBERLR BE BT RECRRBREE
77 Capital International Israel NIS1 - = - 100  Provision of investment

(Israel) Limited ®ote! advisory services
7Z Capital International S=E] 13 B TRAtR B BRI PR

(Israel) Limited
77 Capital International UK GBP1 — = - 100  Provision of investment

(UK) Limited ™o advisory services

+
+
=
B
S

R EBRRE

77 Capital International
(UK) Limited
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O S EREMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &£ 20203831 HILFE

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 34. XAFNEEMBRARFS @)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Place of Paid up issued/ Percentage of
incorporation registered equity attributable
Name and operations capital to the Company Principal activities
i3 A BRERfT/
Ea REEHE R ADREERERLH TEER
Direct Indirect
EE Gk
20204 2019F 20205 20194
% % % %
77 Capital International USA - - - 100 100 Provision of investment
(US) LLC advisory services
77 Capital International e RAIR B B R PR
(US) LLC
RYATE L RRERE The PRC US$400,000 - - 100 100 Investment holding
EREBBRAA
(Asian Capital (Qianhai)
Investment Management
Limited*)
RRBEDREREES $ 400,000%7T REER
EERERLNA

*  For identification purpose only

Note: 7Z Capital International (Israel) Limited and ZZ Capital International Fff# : 72 Capital International (Israel) Limited & 7Z Capital
(UK) Limited are deregistered during the year ended 31 March 2020. International (UK) Limited /&% 202043 A31H
IEEFEREE -
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at MDA ENFERBEITEAERZES -

the end of the year.
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NSEIPEE &S VS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z 20203831 BILFE

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

35. XRARZHMBERRRE #E

2020 & 20194
HK$’000 HK$°000
FETT FET
Non-current asset FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBRRIMIEE 22,808 22,810
Plant and equipment TR K 54 50 -
Total non-current assets EREBERT 22,858 22,810
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note) FEUSBT B A T (MY aE) 624,925 677,981
Other assets and receivables (Note) H b & E K EWGRIE (i it) 502 414
Bank balances and cash (Note) RITHEHRIRE (FE) 3,800 4,342
Total current assets A EAEE 629,227 682,737
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals HAb R FIA R BT E 9,508 365
Amounts due to subsidiaries AR ENGIE/C 10,672 =
Total current liabilities MBI BEERE 20,180 =
Net current assets REBEETFE 609,047 682,372
Net assets EEFE 631,905 705,182
Equity ER
Equity attributable to owners of the RARHEE ANEERER
Company
Share capital A% s 35,505 35,505
Reserves & 596,400 669,677
Total equity RS HA%R 631,905 705,182
Note: ECL for amounts due from subsidiaries, other assets and receivables HfeE - FEURMIBAR] - Hih & E R EWFIENKIRITA

and bank balances and cash are assessed on a 12m ECL basis as there

had been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
and impairment allowance is considered to be insignificant.

HERENARERBREZ 2ZEABRBEEER
HAEETAHE  RERB VT HAUREERAR
W B EIE NSO E R B R TEX -
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 35. ZR AU HARRN KRR HE 2
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Movement in the Company’s reserves KABZHEET
Retained
profits
Share Contributed (accumulated
premium surplus loss) Total
REB&EF
IR 1018 BAEE (REHEE) Fo
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FEr FET
(Note) (Note)
(Kfz%) iz
At 1 April 2018 R2018F4F1H 705,977 19,000 133,486 858,463
Loss and total comprehensive & RNEEB R 2 HEER
loss for the year 18%8 = — (188,786) (188,786)
At 31 March 2019 M20199F3 A31H 705,977 19,000 (55,300) 669,677
Loss and total comprehensive & XNEBR 2 EER
loss for the year msg - - (73,277) (73,277)
At 31 March 2020 720203 A31H 705,977 19,000 (128,577) (596,400)
Note: The Company's contributed surplus represents the excess of the fair HiaE AR BRI AR ERIE R L T ATAR R 4R W 0 BT
value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the BRRIRG AT EBBR I #ETRRME EHTH
reorganisation prior to the Listing, over the nominal value of the AN ENRAD B RO EREE o

Company’s shares issued in exchange thereafter.
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36.

37.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NSEIPEE &S VS

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z 20203831 BILFE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITY ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liability
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liability arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

BB EBELERENYER

TRANAKERYHABDELABNE
B BREASKIFRSEY - BHKEPEL
MBEERZFHERECHIARRREKERN
AEENGERERNERNBRAMBEBE

ERERE -

Lease liabilities

HEaE
HK$'000
FET
(Note 25)
(Kta£25)

At 1 April 2019 (restated)
Financing cash flows
Interest expense

M EFX

M2019%4 A 18 (&K=E7%)

MERTRE

10,780
(4,048)
206

At 31 March 2020

7202053 A 31

6,938

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Since the beginning of 2020, the outbreak of Novel
Coronavirus (“COVID-19") has impacts on the global
business environment. The Group’s business is mainly
conducted in the Mainland China and Hong Kong. Some of
the Group's potential customers have delayed or suspended
their financing plans due to the epidemic, resulting in the
Group's loss of some business opportunities.

In spite of effect of COVID-19, the Group continued to look
for more institutional customers and provide diversified
financial services to them, including investment consulting,
asset management, corporate consulting, corporate
financing and proprietary investment; and will continue its
strategies to diversify its business development.

The Group will keep continuous attention on the effects of
COVID-19 and react actively to its impact on the financial
position and operations of the Group.

37. REWREE

H2020F V1% - HEBMRKEE ((BERKEE
RMBREHEHRBRREELTE - A&
BEBBETBETREAEMESE oK
BBEEEPARBRAME T HEETHR
Bl SHAKERET —LHEKE -

BEXIBRREROTE  AEBEDEE
SEREZORBER  KEA/ATPRMHZTT
ftemiRY  BRRERN BEEE &
X EERERBERESFERY k&
BBEZITTLBRRE o

AEBREERITNRSROTE AR
BEHHEHAKEH IR EENTE -
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Five Years' Financial Summary (unaudited)

&5 @
hEFRIFIfTE (FRES%)
15 months
ended
31 March
2016
HE 20164
3A31H
2019/205F  2018/194F 2017184  2016/174F  1E151EA
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F&r F&T F&r F&r
RESULTS ¥
Revenue A 16,969 3,935 246,447 213,695 164,252
Net investment income (l0ss) BEWA (ER) 258 54,275 (84,992) 6,275 (21) 132
Interest income FEUA 14,153 9,009 1,022 2,789 4,077
Other (losses) gains o (B518) Wi (19,232) (24,945) 2,318 (96) 150
Revenue and other income (loss) U A R EAbUg A (E38) 66,165 (96,993) 256,062 216,367 168,611
Operating expenses REFEY (64,385)  (186,903)  (229,240)  (148,495) (42,728)
Profit (loss) before tax BRIANEF (E518) 1,780 (283,896) 26,822 67,872 125,883
Income tax (expense) credit Fiigfi (Ax) Kk (191) (813) (6,020) 11,310 (13,210)
Profit (loss) for the year FAmH () 1,589  (284,709) 20,802 79,182 112,673
Earnings (loss) per share KRR NN
attributable to owners BREF (EE)
of the Company
— Basic (HK cents) — EARCGEW) 0.04 (8.02) 0.59 2.23 4.50
— Diluted (HK cents) — BE(BL) 0.04 (8.02) 0.59 223 4.44
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥EREE
As at 31 March
R3A31H
2020 20194 20184 20174 20164
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F&T F&T FET FET
Total assets BEE 731,851 714,884 1,010,575 1,020,138 922,616
Total liabilities BEE (21,957) (9,702) (20,161) (47,895) (29,555)
709,894 705,182 990,414 972,243 893,061
Equity attributable to owners AR RIHEA ARE(S
of the Company by 709,894 705,182 990,414 972,243 893,061
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